


MISSION 
STATEMENT

Berger Paints Jamaica Limited is committed to 
providing the best quality coatings and excellent 
customer service via superior technology and 
well-trained, highly motivated human resources 
thereby creating an environment where we 
continue to be the preferred business partner, 
leader in the marketplace, preferred employer, 
and outstanding corporate citizen, constantly 
satisfying the needs of all our stakeholders.
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COMPANY
PROFILE

COMPANY DATA

Berger Paints Jamaica Limited (BPJL) manufactures and distributes decorative, industrial and wood 

coatings, paint-related material and is a distributor of automotive coatings. In 1953, Berger Paints 

started operating in Jamaica and since then has been providing innovative, cutting-edge paint 

products and services. Berger Paints Jamaica Limited remains the largest paint-manufacturing entity 

in the English-speaking Caribbean, with 95% of the Company’s products manufactured locally.

BPJL is a subsidiary of Ansa Coatings International Limited whose ultimate parent company is ANSA 

McAL Limited. ANSA McAL is the largest regional conglomerate, comprising over 70 companies 

in over eight territories, in the following sectors: Automotive, Beverage, Construction, Distribution, 

Financial Services, Manufacturing, Media, Retail and Services. With over 135 years of history, ANSA 

McAL is an iconic Corporate Group employing a work force of close to 6,000 people.

Berger’s unwavering pursuit of excellence in the manufacturing of high quality paint products, 

utilising international best practices and standards, has sustained the Company’s leadership in the 

industry over the years. Berger Paints has remained true to its ethos of putting the consumer at the 

heart of what it does, primarily by formulating products that are environmentally friendly and best 

suited to handle the harsh tropical conditions of the Caribbean.

The name Berger has become synonymous with quality and excellence, the foundation of which 

has been built on innovative product research and development programmes and the professional 

delivery of value-added service to the market on a consistent basis. Berger is an organisation with 

a social conscience that is demonstrated in its support of a myriad of programmes and initiatives 

benefiting the society at large, particularly, the most vulnerable.
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Huron Gordon
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Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants
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BANKERS
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Myers, Fletcher & Gordon
21 East Street, Kingston
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REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT
PwC Corporate Services (Jamaica)
Limited
Scotiabank Centre,
Cnr. Duke and Port Royal Streets,
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QUALITY POLICY
STATEMENT

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH
AND SAFETY POLICIES

• We shall provide products and services that meet stated standards on time, every time.

• We shall continually improve our processes to understand changing customer needs 
and preferences and use the same as input for periodically reviewing and revising 
performance standards of our products and services.

• We accept zero defect as a quality absolute, and shall design and operate our quality 
system accordingly.

• We shall organize our work practices to do a job right the first time, every time.

• We are committed to continual improvement in quality

• We consider compliance to statutory Environment, Health and Safety (EHS) requirements 
as the minimum performance standard and are committed to go beyond and adopt 
stricter standards wherever appropriate.

• We shall focus on pollution abatement, resource optimisation and waste minimisation. 
We believe that these measures will help in sustainable development.

• We are committed to the reduction of generation of solid waste and its disposal in a 
safe and environmentally friendly manner.

• We are committed to continual improvement in the area of EHS.

• We shall give priority and attention to health and safety of employees.

• We shall train all employees (including employees of service providers) to carry out 
work in our premises and at customer sites as per prescribed procedures designed to 
meet all EHS requirements of the Company.

• We shall encourage sharing of information and communication of our EHS management 
system with stakeholders.

• We shall educate customers and the public on safe use of our products.

• When required under any law, for the time being in force, or to meet certification 
requirements, establishments shall prescribe additional policies.
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REPORT OF THE

EXECUTIVE
CHAIRMAN

ADAM N. SABGA

Chairman
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2020 was a year of intense and dedicated 

focus to the health and well-being of our 

employees, their families, our customers, 

and the wider community. The impact of the 

Coronavirus (COVID-19), pandemic has had 

and will continue to have a marked impact 

on the business environment and economic 

conditions well into the immediate future.  

Emerging from a challenging 2019, the company entered the new 

fiscal with a slate of exciting plans, all in service of delivering on 

our commitments to our stakeholders, customers, and employees. 

I am pleased to advise that despite the impact of the pandemic, we 

maintained our focus on creating a more sustainable, innovative, 

and profitable future.

 

2020 REVIEW
 
Like many companies, regardless of the nature of the business, 

Berger Paints Jamaica Limited (BPJL) was not spared the immense 

pressures of the Coronavirus pandemic.  In March 2020, the impact 

was felt locally when Jamaica confirmed its first positive case.  As the 

number of positive cases quickly escalated, the Government duly 

imposed curfew restrictions, lock downs of several communities, 

and mandatory safety protocols that have now become part of 

our daily lives.  The “new norm” demanded that businesses adapt 

to continue to serve its customers as a means of survival.  The 

Management of BPJL increased its focus around the safety and 

health of its staff, customers, and stakeholders, and implemented 

several measures as follows:  

• Business Continuity Plans – systematic approach to maintain 

operations based on the number of BPJL employees confirming 

positive.

• Daily touch points with Department Heads and increased 

monitoring of Personnel Protective Equipment (PPE); sanitization 

requirements at all locations.

• Work from Home (WFH) arrangements for staff where possible. 

This included facilitating members of staff with children that 

needed support with the closure of schools; provision of tools to 

execute daily tasks remotely where applicable.

• Covid-19 protocols for all persons entering the compound 

including: Infrared Temperature checks, Screening Forms, 

Sanitization stations and awareness signage encouraging the 

use of masks at all our locations.
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• Staggered shifts to ensure physical distancing at 

office areas, change rooms and lunch areas.

• Increased Janitorial services in the Factory and 

Warehouse areas. 

I would like to take the opportunity to commend 

the entire BPJL team for their support, vigilance 

and adherence to the protocols instituted. They 

all adapted to the necessary changes, and all 

contributed to BPJL going through 2020 without a 

single positive case of COVID-19.

With the protocols implemented to safeguard our 

staff, additional initiatives to support our customer 

base were also introduced.  Initiatives such as 

Curb side pickup, free delivery, and access to 

online ordering via our Social Media pages were 

introduced as alternatives to getting products to the 

customer, while minimizing contact. 

However, despite the team’s best efforts, BPJL 

recorded a decrease in revenues of 6%, $2.37 

Billion for the period under review compared to 

prior year revenues of $2.52 Billion. Recoveries 

in revenues were seen quarter on quarter since 

quarter one. Despite this, the continued spikes in 

number of cases, further lockdowns and curfew 

hours throughout the year would not allow us to 

recover fully by year-end.  

The pandemic also impacted the Macro-economic 

environment with volatility in the foreign exchange 

market where the Jamaican dollar devalued 8% in 

2020 in comparison to 3.8% decline in 2019.  This is 

a key factor as our Cost of Sales is heavily influenced 

by exchange rates since 95% of raw material inputs 

are imported. 

The Management Team instituted several prudent 

measures to control operating expenses.  These 

were derived by improving efficiencies, costs 

containment and continued alignment of long-

term strategies which resulted in a 6% decrease in 

expenses or $1.16 Billion versus $1.23 Billion for the 

prior period.   

Financial Year 2020 saw BPJL register a decline in 

net profit of $11.6 Million compared to $29.3 Million 

for the prior period.  

However, having navigated a year of unprecedented 

challenges brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic, 

while ensuring the health, safety, preservation 

of jobs for our employees and commitment to 

our valued customers and stakeholders, Berger 

Paints Jamaica Limited remains profitable.  Our 

strong Liquidity and generation of cash in surplus 

of normal trading obligations gives us protection 

against further economic downturn or unforeseen 

circumstances.  2020 has shown that BPJL is 

resilient and allowed us to realize opportunities 

available to improve performance.  Our commitment 

to the long-term strategies and major plans that are 

already beginning to be rolled out as evidenced by 

our Boldly Berger campaign are the signs that we 

are prepared to aggressively rebuild the Company’s 

profit performance. 

2020 OPPORTUNITIES

Opportunities are born out of challenges and trying 

times force leaders to adapt. Lessons were learnt 

and practices from operating in the “new norm” 

are now entrenched in our being. The team has 

remained focused on the long-term strategies, and 

these are beginning to bear fruit, and will be even 

more evident when the market conditions stabilize.  

The Enterprise Resource Planning System (ERP) 

introduced in November 2020 has given BPJL 

the opportunity to be fully integrated with other 

companies across Trinidad and Tobago, Grenada, 

and Barbados that comprise the Construction Sector.  

This not only allows synergies across our companies 

but creates a cohesive and unified approach to 

our operations, supply chain and approach to the 

regional market space.   Standardization of our 

processes and a common focus across the Region 

allows for a greater platform to drive continuous 

improvement and benefit from greater efficiencies 

as we leverage our regional footprint and economies 

of scale.

BOLDLY BERGER

The much anticipated “Boldly Berger” campaign 

has introduced a new and modern look to the brand, 

with equally exciting packaging that reflects our true 

position of market and regional leader. The “Boldly 

Berger” launch was the culmination of just under 

two years of planning to revitalize the Berger name 

with a new look which would appeal to our loyal and 

traditional users while delivering a modern look and 
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feel to cater to the new generation of users. Our 

advertising campaigns have been rolled out across 

all media platforms with great reception, and there 

are much more exciting things to come throughout 

2021.  

CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE 

To complement the improvement in our processes, 

product offerings and branding, our sales team will 

shortly be equipped with the technological tools 

that fully integrate with our new ERP platform.  This 

will provide live data that will enable more efficient 

and effective territory coverage and engagement 

with our customers via Journey Plans. In addition, 

the Dealer network has already begun to see the 

latest Digital Tinting Systems and Shaker systems 

installed at their locations. This is yet another long-

term strategy that has materialized to equip the 

market with the tools necessary to deliver on our 

quality statement. This will not only add value to 

our direct customers but enhance the consumers’ 

service experience, giving them limitless options in 

terms of applications and colours.  

Our flagship Colour Shop opened in November 

2020. Focused on the Customer Experience, the 

store is aimed at complementing and enhancing 

sales and service delivery from existing partner 

outlets that carry Berger products. The store has 

been designed to provide a unique sales experience 

that will appeal to our contractors, homeowners, 

and Project professionals, who require a deeper 

level of consultation and information around the full 

product offering. 

OUTLOOK FOR 2021

The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted the lives of 

persons globally. However, as vaccines become 

more accessible and available, it brings with it a 

sense of renewed hope that the worst will soon be 

behind us.

Management and the Board of Directors have 

conscientiously made the decision to not be a 

victim of circumstances and accepted that we need 

to remain creative and innovative in conducting 

business to achieve our objectives.  Despite the 

challenges of 2020, we remained steadfast in 

implementing the planned strategic foundations 

that were aimed at long-term success.  2020 has 

taught us to be more aggressive in our management 

of resources, costs, and reduction of waste in our 

processes to drive operational excellence. We 

are confident that with the sales and marketing 

initiatives already in play will see growth in our 

market share. 

Our performance indicators for the Company’s first 

quarter of 2021 are significantly ahead of 2020 

even though we are still under the cloud of the 

global pandemic.  The Sector and supporting teams 

are aligned to the overall objective and remain 

committed to delivering stronger results and an 

overall business transformational performance in 

2021.

On behalf of the Management and staff of Berger 

Paints Jamaica Limited, we thank you for your 

continued support and wish for all our stakeholders 

a successful and satisfying 2021.  Also, our thoughts 

and prayers go out to the individuals, families and 

friends that have been directly impacted by the 

pandemic.

Fueled by the operational 
efficiencies aggressively 
being pursued, we are 
confident that BPJL will 
deliver a significantly 
stronger performance 
over 2020.

Adam N. Sabga 

Chairman
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REPORT OF THE

GENERAL
MANAGER

SHASHI MAHASE

General Manager
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Coming off a challenging year in 2019, 

Berger Paints Jamaica Limited (BPJL) had 

set its sights on an exciting 2020.  

As per communications from our last Annual General Meeting (AGM), 

we were focused and committed to our long-term strategies to 

enable this.  At the time of the last AGM, the Coronavirus pandemic 

(COVID-19) was already with us, and at that time no one would have 

anticipated the devastating impact it would have globally and that 

we would still be dealing with its effects to this day. 

The emergence of the Coronavirus pandemic led to BPJL’s 

Management Team increasing its immediate focus on the health 

and well-being of our employees and customers. Restrictions 

imposed by the Government continues to have a marked impact on 

the business environment and economic conditions. We rolled out 

strong Business Continuity Plans and enforced heightened Health 

and Safety (HSE) protocols to protect our staff and customers.  

Despite the fluctuations in positive cases throughout the year, I 

am pleased to announce that BPJL managed to come out of 2020 

without any confirmed cases among our employees.  I would like to 

commend the BPJL family on their vigilance and adherence to the 

protocols introduced that enabled us to achieve this. 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Berger Paints Jamaica Limited is one of many companies within 

the Ansa McAL Group of Companies which comprise ten (10) 

sectors offering a diversified range of products and services.  BPJL 

belongs to the Construction Sector and represents one of the four 

(4) paint companies (Berger Paints – Barbados, Ansa Coatings 

– Trinidad and Sissons Paints – Grenada) within the sector. The 

Construction Sector’s Directors work in tandem with the respective 

Management Teams at the subsidiaries and provide oversight on 

strategic direction on Sales & Marketing, Operations, Supply Chain 

and Human Resources. This common oversight and collaborative 

approach have served us well during the pandemic as we were 

able to leverage the strengths of the teams across the sector.   

2020 REVIEW

2020 began positively as planned strategies were being rolled 

out enabling Berger Paints Jamaica Limited to be ahead of the 

prior year and budget at the end of February.  As the COVID-19 

pandemic rapidly spread and the number of new cases began to 

rise, March saw market activity fall dramatically.  

Capital Expenditures from the Government of Jamaica reduced as 

there was a decline in the start of housing projects.  
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The Company continued to look for creative means 

of maintaining revenue streams. Benefits were 

seen from these initiatives as revenues continued 

on a positive trajectory month on month from Q2 

to Q3. As we prepared for Q4, which is our typical 

peak period, we faced additional challenges in 

raw material supply and inclement weather. This 

curtailed what could have been a more significant 

recovery and prevented us from closing the gap on 

the prior year in a more significant way.  

The result was that, BPJL achieved net revenues 

of $2,371 million compared to $2,525 million for 

the prior year ended December 31, 2019, or a 6% 

decrease.      

As mentioned, raw materials supply added to our 

challenges as over 90% of our materials are high 

quality materials from international suppliers. Due to 

global challenges in the supply chain, shortage of 

supply to meet demands became an issue driving 

unit prices up.  This was further compounded by 

the fluctuations in the foreign exchange market as 

the Jamaican dollar devalued approximately 6.7% in 

2020 compared to 3.5% in 2019.  

Although Cost of Sales (COS) decreased by 3.8% 

over the prior year, mainly because of volume 

sold, we did feel the effects of raw materials price 

increases. However, the Company made the 

decision to not pass this on to our dealer network 

and by extension our valued consumers. We 

recognized that persons were still grappling with 

the effects of the pandemic and disposable income 

would have been prioritized on life essentials.  BPJL 

instead focused on mitigating the impact on COS 

by strategically managing our inventory of raw 

materials and finished goods.

OPERATIONAL COSTS

With decline in revenues and challenges around 

raw materials, the Management Team took prudent 

actions around cost management, looking for 

opportunities and improvement of our operational 

efficiencies for support. This led to a decrease 

in expenses over the prior year. Again, focus on 

the long-term objectives, despite the economic 

challenges, was paramount and remained in check.  

Strategies rolled out in 2019 were further enforced 

in 2020, more so as a means of ensuring effective 

utilization of scare resources. Cost management 

was paramount as the effects of raw material price 

increases, supply chain logistical challenges and 

lower market activity developed. 

The Management Team took this as an opportunity 

to look at all aspects of our business to extract 

possible savings via improvement in efficiencies, 

cash and non-cash expenses and cost containment 

measures to ensure alignment with our strategic 

objectives. BPJL adopted the Standard Costing 

methodology which standardized the approach to 

cost control across the sector.  This warrants analysis 

of variances in production, inventory adjustments/

revaluations and purchase prices. Reclassification 

of cost items below the line from Selling, General 

and Administrative expenses were shifted to Costs 

of Goods Sold to accurately capture Direct Labour 

and Overhead rates. This supports our strategy for 

standardizing costings across the sector, optimizing 

our manufacturing costs and extracting the 

maximum Gross Profits.

Operating Expenses were reduced by $70 

million or 6% over the prior period. Of this, Cash 

Expenses (excluding Salary and Wages) and Non-

Cash Expenses were reduced by 11% and 13% 

respectively. Despite the savings derived from 

these lower expenses, additional costs were 

incurred in procurement of raw materials to ensure 

our strict quality standards. Although faced with 

challenges around supply chain, at no point, were 

our ISO 9001:2015 - Quality Management Systems 

(QMS) 9001:2015 and 14001:2015 - Environmental 

Management Systems (EMS) compromised as we 

remained committed to best practices to improve 

our customer service all year-round.  

However, variances incurred in Production and 

Purchasing would have also negated some of the 

benefits of the measures around cost management.  

In addition, to implementing these measures, we 

spared no expense in ensuring the health and well-

being of our staff while preserving jobs as a matter 

of priority.

Periodic rationalization of our overall product 

portfolio ensures that we are meeting the market 

demands and allows us to utilize valuable resources 

on the products that add value and optimize the 

benefits to the consumer and business. Total 
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Assets reductions of 22% was driven by reduced 

Inventories that will over time result in cost-savings 

due to a correlated reduction in raw material and 

finished goods carrying inventory costs. 

Investments in capital expenditure have been 

prudently managed and support the long-term 

strategies of the business. The approach to these 

investments will continue in 2021 and include 

upgrades to plant equipment that will increase our 

output, lower our manufacturing cost, and improve 

the operational efficiencies within the company.

Based on the factors outlined, for the 2020 period, 

the Company realized a net profit of $11.8 million 

compared to 2019’s net profit of $41.3 million.  

Despite the decline in performance over 2019, 

BPJL remains profitable with strong liquidity and 

positive cash flows in surplus of trading obligations. 

The Company remains debt free with strong cash 

balances. Management of assets and liabilities 

continue to be strategic to mitigate risks and manage 

working capital. The company remains focused 

and committed to taking the lessons learnt, and 

opportunities for improvement identified in 2020 

and using them effectively to rebuild the profitability 

of Berger Paints Jamaica Limited in years to come.

CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY

The Management Team of Berger Paints Jamaica 

Limited continued to partner with the surrounding 

communities in which we operate. Despite the 

restrictions imposed, we continued to do our best 

to provide support to social and non-commercial 

activities and entities in Jamaica.  

Among the projects we supported in 2020 were:

 

• Donation of paints to foster homes, charity 

organizations and schools across Jamaica to 

assist them in their renovation and beautification 

exercises and drive environmentally safe 

practices.

• Riverton Meadows Early Childhood feeding 

program in partnership with Grace Kennedy.

• Donated drums to schools for water storage.

• Providing staff with chlorine bleach for 

sanitization purposes.

2021 BUSINESS OUTLOOK

2020 presented many challenges and 

unprecedented hurdles, but also created 

opportunities to explore areas of improvement 

within the business. The Enterprise Resource 

Planning (ERP) system implemented in November 

2019 has allowed us to integrate our businesses 

across the sector and achieve more effective 

support from the wider team. Management has 

access to key insights to allow for appreciation of 

the business drivers and quicker decision making to 

leverage these opportunities for improvement.  

Given the long-term strategies that have been 

cascaded down throughout the organization, BPJL 

looks forward to a successful 2021 and years to 

come.  

I am happy to report that Quarter One of 2021 has 

started strongly and we are significantly ahead 

of the same period in 2019.  There is a collective, 

positive outlook on the economy by the Jamaican 

Government. Efforts to roll out vaccinations to 

achieve herd immunity are well on their way, and 

it is expected that the pandemic will be contained.  

This will auger well for the fiscal year 2021 as we 

should see some signs of normalcy in the months 

to come. With tourist visits to the island back on 

the rise, construction and manufacturing sectors 

increasing output and a level of buoyancy returning 

to the local economy, we believe 2021 is going to 

be a year of significant growth.  

REVENUE PLANS

Revenue strategies for 2021 are structured around 

improving and enhancing our Customer Experience 

(CX). To this end, we are developing a more effective 

sales team by providing technological tools that will 

empower them to function remotely, regardless of 

place or time. They will also become fully integrated 

into our Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) platform 

which will enable them to have “live” information on 

hand for faster processing of customers’ requests. 

Journey Plans have also been fine-tuned to create 

more effective sales routes. 

The Hardware Channel remains the largest 

contributor to our business and the decline in 2020 
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has been directly linked to consumers’ disposable 

income and prioritization of spending on the 

necessities needed during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

However, we continue to roll out the plans to 

bolster our dealer network with the upgrades 

of our Digital Tinting Systems, Shaker Systems, 

and in-store support. The plans around our re-

branding, marketing campaigns, improved Journey 

plans/Route to Market activities and Sales Team 

support will auger well for ensuring an improved 

performance and a Boldly Berger 2021.

Growth in our Projects Channel was curtailed as 

a major impact of Covid-19 would have been the 

virtual shut down of the Tourism Industry. In addition, 

many construction projects would have seen 

closure or delays due to limited workers to maintain 

compliance with Government mandated protocols. 

However, we were able to achieve 8% increase 

over the prior year in revenue from Projects. Focus 

in this channel continues via partnerships with key 

stakeholders such as Master Builders Association, 

Jamaica Institute of Architects, and the Jamaican 

Hotel Industry. Initiatives such as introduction of 

industrial tint from base lines, increased capacity in 

our Textured offerings and leveraging of our Public 

Procurement Certification will see us continue the 

growth trend.

The Automotive Channel also had a positive year 

as against the prior period with a 30% increase 

in revenues. Although significant, our appetite 

for stronger growth in this Channel remains 

unsatisfied. The PPG Nexa 2K and Shopline brands 

are recognized for their superior performance 

and international standards. The Aquabase line of 

PPG products remains the only well-established 

line of environmentally friendly automotive paints 

in the local market. We continue to work with key 

Automotive Dealerships towards developing a 

partnership and creation of the first eco-friendly 

service centre. The Roberlo brand has gained 

traction and provides support in the economy line 

of offerings. 

We were able to create new partnerships with 

dealers throughout the island to add to our existing 

Automotive Dealer network.  The Management 

Team recognizes the opportunities that exist in 

this segment of the market and expects to see the 

Shashi Mahase 

GENERAL MANAGER

potential realized in an even more impactful way 

going forward. 

Our Retail Channel saw the opening of our first 

independent Colour Shop in November 2020. This 

Colour Shop provides our consumers an opportunity 

to explore all lines within our house of brands. 

Consultations on productions, correct application 

and colour advice seeks to empower our users 

with sound knowledge of the brands offered and 

support our dealer network regardless of location. 

To further enhance this and support our distribution, 

we intend to target other suitable locations for the 

introduction of two other Colour Shops in 2021.

We are committed to be the supplier of choice 

for products and services in Jamaica and remain 

committed to providing our consumers with viable 

options in paint products and services that beautifies 

lives and living spaces.  

We express our heart felt gratitude to our team 

members, who continue to rise above the present 

challenges, to serve our customers with diligence 

and care. I would also like to take this opportunity 

to wish our customers and shareholders continued 

good health, and to express my gratitude for your 

continued support and confidence in us.
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The Dominoes Tournament has been a pastime of Berger Paints for many years. 
On the 21st of February 2020, we hosted the opening of our Dominoes Tournament 
on the Delivery Bay at the Head Office with four teams competing – Rock, Tall Up, 
R.U.M.E Ravers and One Don. The teams gave us an action packed event. With Team 
Rock winning at the opening match, Team One Don came in strong for the second 
place. The following week had teams Acticide HF, Bleachers, Tall Up and Winners 
competing. This resulted in quite a close win for Team Acticide HF. Team Tall Up 
played a good match and placed second.

CORPORATE 
ENGAGEMENT

Berger Dominoes 
Tournament
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On this day black, green and gold lined our work space and hearts as we celebrated 
Jamaica Day at Berger Paints Jamaica Head office in Kingston. Several staff members 
came out wearing the colours of the Jamaican flag with a fashionable twist. Green 
hair, bright yellow jackets, and the mix and matching of black, brought colours and 
good vibes to our work space all day.

Jamaica Day

CORPORATE ENGAGEMENT CONT’D
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On Monday, October 5, 2020 we hosted our second Yard Sale at the Head Office in 
Kingston. This week-long sale had an excellent customer response with hundreds 
turning up to take advantage of the reduced prices on select products.

Berger Paints Jamaica 
Yard Sale

CORPORATE ENGAGEMENT CONT’D
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Dear Valued Shareholder,

Berger Paints Jamaica Limited continues to closely monitor the impact of the novel Corona Virus 

(COVID-19). Foremost is the safety of our staff, shareholders, and other stakeholders.

We will Notify you, our shareholders of the date of the Annual General Meeting, as soon as, it has 

been determined.  The Notice of Annual Meeting will be issued and published on our website and in 

accordance with statutory requirements.

We thank you for your understanding and encourage you to stay safe.

Huron Gordon

COMPANY SECRETARY

April 20, 2021

 

ADVISORY TO OUR
VALUED SHAREHOLDERS
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Corporate Governance remains a key area of focus for Berger Paints Jamaica Limited (“Berger” or the 

“Company”).  One of the primary responsibilities of the Board of Directors and Management is to ensure Berger 

has a robust and effective Corporate Governance framework to ensure greater transparency, protection of 

shareholder interests and to enhance the financial performance of the company. This Code is influenced by 

applicable laws and regulations and internationally accepted Corporate Governance Best Practices and is 

available on our website at bergerpaintscaribbean.com.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is led and managed by an effective Board that is responsible for the overall stewardship of 

Berger.  Directors are elected by the shareholders to supervise the management of the business and affairs 

of the company with the goal of enhancing long-term shareholder value. 

To assist in its function, the Board has established an Audit Committee. 

Regular meetings of the Board and Audit Committees are convened.  Telephonic attendance and conference 

via audio-visual communication at Board meetings are allowed under the Company’s Articles.   Details of the 

frequency of Board and Audit Committee meetings held during the year, as well as the attendance of each 

Board member at these meetings are disclosed on page 41.

Matters which are specifically reserved for decision making by the Board, include those involving corporate 

plans and budgets, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate financial restructuring, share 

issues, dividends and other returns to shareholders.

Although the day-to-day functions of the business are delegated to management, it is the Board which 

remains ultimately accountable to its shareholders to ensure that the business is managed in compliance 

with applicable laws, and is consistent with safe and sound business practices.

The Company does not have a formal training programme for the Directors. However, in discharging that 

obligation, Directors may rely on the expertise of the Company’s senior management, its outside advisors 

and auditors. Directors are also briefed on the business and updated from time to time on relevant changes 

to statutes and regulatory requirements applicable to the Company’s business.

In presenting the annual financial statements and quarterly financial statements to shareholders, it is the aim 

of the Board to provide shareholders with detailed analysis, explanations and assessment of the Company’s 

financial position and prospects. Management currently provides the Board with appropriately detailed 

management accounts of the Company’s performance, position and prospects on a quarterly basis.  

All Independent Directors have access to all levels of senior executives in the Company and are encouraged 

to speak to other employees to seek additional information, if required.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
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BOARD BALANCE AND 
INDEPENDENCE

Each of the Non-Executive Directors brings 

considerable business and/or professional 

experience, independent challenge and rigour to 

the deliberations of the Board.  The Board considers 

a Director to have met the criteria for independence 

if he or she:

• does not represent a substantial shareholding

• is not a close relative of a significant shareholder

• does not have an employment relationship with 

the Company

As at December 31, 2020, the Board comprised 

three Non-Executive Directors and four Executive 

Directors.  The names of the Directors including 

details of their qualifications and experience are 

set out on pages 25 through 28 of this report. In 

accordance with the Company’s Articles, one third 

of its Directors retire by rotation every year.

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings 

and is responsible for ensuring that established 

procedures are followed and all relevant statutes 

and regulations which are applicable to the 

Company, are complied with. All Directors have 

separate and independent access to the Company 

Secretary.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board determines the level and structure of 

fees paid to non-executive directors.   The Executive 

Directors are not paid a fee in respect of their office 

as a director of the company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its 

responsibilities relating to:

• The integrity of the financial statements and 

any formal announcements relating to the 

Company’s performance

• Overseeing the relationship between the 

Company and its external Auditors

• The review of the effectiveness and adequacy 

of the Company’s internal and financial controls

• The review of the external audit plans and 

subsequent findings

• The review of the effectiveness of the services 

provided by the external Auditors and other 

related matters

• Litigation reviews

• The review of compliance reports

The work of the Audit Committee is supported by 

two Internal Audit departments, as the Company is 

audited annually by the Internal Audit department 

of ANSA McAL Group and externally by Ernst &  

Young,  the results of which are reported to the Audit 

Committee and the Board of Directors respectively.

In accordance with generally accepted Corporate 

Governance standards and the requirements of 

the Jamaica Stock Exchange Listing Agreement 

that the majority of Committee members should 

be independent, three quarters of the Committee 

comprises Non-Executive, Independent Directors. 

The members of the Audit Committee are the 

Honourable Michael Fennell OJ, Mr. Milton Samuda, 

Mr. Andy Mahadeo, and Mrs. Jacqueline Sharp. The 

Committee is chaired by Mr. Fennell.

The General Manager and the Financial Controller/

Company Secretary are invited to Committee 

meetings at the discretion of the Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CONT’D
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The Directors  hereby submit their Report and 

the Audited Financial Statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2020.

OPERATING RESULTS

DIRECTORS

The Directors as at December 31, 2020 were as 

follows: -

Mr. Adam N. Sabga - Chairman

Mr. Ray A. Sumairsingh 

Mr. Andy Mahadeo  

Mr. Craig La Croix

Hon. Michael Fennell, OJ

Mrs. Jacqueline Sharp

Mr. Milton Samuda

In accordance with Article 97 of the Company’s 

Articles of Incorporation, Mr. Ray Sumairsingh 

and Mrs. Jacqueline  Sharp, retire from the 

Board by rotation, and being eligible, Mr. Ray 

Sumairsingh  and Mrs. Jacqueline Sharp offer 

themselves for re-election.

AUDITORS

The Auditors, Ernst & Young, have signified 

their willingness to continue in office.  Their re-

appointment will be proposed at the Annual 

General Meeting.

EMPLOYEES

Your Directors wish to thank the management 

and staff of the company for their performance 

during the year under review.

CUSTOMERS

Your Directors wish to thank our valued 

customers, for their support and contribution 

to the Company’s performance during the year 

under review, and look forward to their continued 

support of the Berger brand of quality.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Huron Gordon

COMPANY SECRETARY

March 15,2021

DIRECTORS’
REPORT

$’000   

Revenues 2,371,281

Profit before taxation 11,793

Net Profit After Tax 11,645

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2020 22



BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

ADAM N. SABGA
CHAIRMAN

RAY A. SUMAIRSINGH
DIRECTOR

ANDY MAHADEO
DIRECTOR
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CRAIG LA CROIX
DIRECTOR

JACQUELINE SHARP
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

MILTON SAMUDA LLB. (HONS.)
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

HON. MICHAEL FENNELL
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
PROFILES

Adam N. Sabga assumed the role of 
Sector Head for the Construction Sector 
of ANSA McAL Limited in March, 2018. He 
previously held the position of Managing 
Director of Standard Distributors Ltd, 
Standard Distribution & Sales (Barbados) 
Ltd and Bell Industries Ltd since 2013. 

He joined the ANSA McAL Group in 2007 
as a Project Engineer at Alstons Building 
Enterprises Ltd (ABEL), and last served in 
the position of General Manager of ABEL 
Building Solutions prior to his move to 
Standard. 

Mr. Sabga holds a Bachelors in Civil 
Engineering from the University of the 
West Indies, and an Executive MBA from 
the Arthur Lok Jack Graduate School of 
Business.

He is also a past Director of the Trinidad 
and Tobago Contractors Association and 
currently holds several directorships 
within the ANSA McAL Group.

Mr. Sumairsingh became a Chartered 
Banker (ACIB) in 1975, after completing 
studies in London, UK. In 1982, he 
achieved his MBA in Finance, while 
working in New York, USA. His early 
career covered banking in Trinidad and 
Tobago, London and Wall Street, NYC. 
His career continued in Life, Pensions, 
Property and Casualty Insurance for 
the next fifteen years. In his role as a 
Senior Executive in Insurance, he also 
served as a Director of the Association 
of Trinidad and Tobago Insurance 
Companies (ATTIC) for over twenty 
years, as well as President for four 
separate terms. He also served on the 
Board of the Insurance Association of 
the Caribbean (IAC) for several years, 
including two years as President. In 
2000, he joined the ANSA McAL Group 
and holds several directorships in the 
ANSA McAL Group, including the Parent 
Board since 2001. Mr. Sumairsingh has 
been a Director of the Trinidad and 
Tobago Stock Exchange for the past 
eight years and is currently serving his 
second term as Chairman.

ADAM N. SABGA
CHAIRMAN

RAY A. SUMAIRSINGH
DIRECTOR
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Mr. Mahadeo is a Mechanical Engineer 
by profession and a member of both the 
Association of Professional Engineers 
and the Board of Engineering of Trinidad 
and Tobago. He started his professional 
career in the Energy sector working for 
both local and international oil service 
companies before joining the ANSA 
McAL Group in 1994. During his time 
with ANSA McAL, Andy successfully 
progressed through the ranks of 
Maintenance Engineer to Operations 
Manager and on to Managing Director 
of ANSA McAL Chemicals Ltd. In 2016 
he became Manufacturing Sector Head 
for the Ansa McAL Group of Companies. 
Throughout his career, he has been 
able to consistently demonstrate the 
creativity, energy, passion and focus on 
people basics that are the hallmarks of 
the Group’s core values.

Craig La Croix was named the 
Operations Director for the Construction 
Sector of ANSA McAL Limited effective 
September 2, 2019. He joined Abel 
Building Solutions (a division of ANSA 
McAL Enterprises Limited) in 2005 and 
in 2015 was promoted to the position 
of Managing Director of ABS. Mr. La 
Croix is a Mechanical Engineer with 
approximately 25 years’ experience 
in the engineering field. He received 
a BSc with Honours in 1994 at the 
University of the West Indies, Trinidad 
and Tobago. Mr. La Croix is a Director on 
the Boards of ANSA McAL Enterprises 
Limited (AMEL) and Tobago Marketing 
Company Ltd (TOMCO) and a past 
Director of the Trinidad & Tobago 
Manufacturers Association (TTMA) 
and Trinidad & Tobago Contractors 
Association (TTCA). He continues 
to represent TTCA on the National 
Building Code Committee and the 
Trinidad & Tobago Bureau of Standards 
Clay Block Committee.

CRAIG LA CROIX
DIRECTOR

ANDY MAHADEO
DIRECTOR
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A past Managing Director of Berger 
Paints Jamaica Limited and Berger 
Caribbean, Mr. Fennell is a retired 
management consultant who 
serves on a number of Boards in 
both the Public and Private Sectors. 
A respected national, regional and 
international sports administrator, 
he is a Past President and now 
an Honorary Life President of the 
Commonwealth Games Federation 
as well as the immediate Past 
President of the Jamaica Olympic 
Association. He has been a 
Board member since 1983.                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                      
                                                                                              

An attorney-at-law and the Managing Partner 
at Samuda & Johnson, Mr. Samuda serves 
on several other Boards in both the Public 
and Private Sectors. He is the Chairman of 
the Institute of Law & Economics, Chairman 
of Sabina Park Holdings Limited, Chairman 
of Wolmer’s Trust, Immediate Past Chairman 
of Jamaica Promotions (JAMPRO) and a 
Past President of the Jamaica Chamber of 
Commerce. He has been a Board member 
since 2004.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
PROFILES

HON. MICHAEL FENNELL, OJ, CD 
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

MILTON SAMUDA LLB. (HONS.)
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
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Jackie, a seasoned financial services 
professional, is currently Director for her 
family-owned manufacturing, export and 
retail business, Coffee Traders Limited. 
Prior to this, she has had over 26 years 
of experience in the Financial Services 
industry, 20 of which she spent with Scotia 
Group Jamaica Limited. She led different 
divisions throughout her career, including 
Treasury, Finance, Administration, Insurance, 
Risk Management and Compliance. Her final 
position at Scotia was as Chief Executive 
Officer, where she oversaw the profitable 
growth of the operations in Jamaica, with 
oversight of four other countries in the 
Caribbean. 

Jackie holds a Bachelor of Science (BSc.) 
degree with honours in Accounting from the 
University of the West Indies, is a Chartered 
Financial Analyst Charter Holder and has 
successfully completed the Certified Public 
Accountant (CPA) examination. She has also 
completed Executive Education programmes 
at Richard Ivey Business School in Canada 
and Duke University, USA. 

JACQUELINE SHARP
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
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HURON GORDON

FINANCIAL CONTROLLER /

COMPANY SECRETARY

NEWTON ABRAHAMS

SALES MANAGER

SHASHI MAHASE

GENERAL MANAGER
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JACQUELINE WARREN-WILSON

TECHNICAL MANAGER

GLADYS MILLER

OPERATIONAL AND

REGIONAL TECHNOLOGY

MANAGER

ROBERT POLLACK

REGIONAL SALES MANAGER

PETA-GAYE LEVENE-THOMAS

COUNTRY MARKETING 

MANAGER/REGIONAL 

MANAGER- BERGER BRAND
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MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 202031



The Management of Berger Paints Jamaica Limited (hereafter 

referred to as “Berger” or the “Company”) is responsible for 

the integrity and objectivity of the information contained in the 

Management Discussion and Analysis (MD & A).  The financial 

information disclosed in the MD & A is consistent with the financial 

statements presented, which have been audited by Ernst & Young 

(EY) and which have been approved by both the Audit Committee 

and Board of Directors.

The MD & A is presented to enable readers to assess the 

operational results and financial condition of the Company for the 

year ended December 31, 2020 with audited prior year results.  

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts are expressed in Jamaican 

dollars and have been primarily derived from our audited financial 

statements, which are prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Boards (IASB).

 

CORPORATE OVERVIEW

Berger, a Jamaican company that commenced manufacturing in the 

Caribbean in 1953, is the largest paint manufacturing company in 

the English-speaking Caribbean and trades under the symbol “BRG” 

on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. Berger’s corporate signature, 

“For Lasting Beauty and Protection,” epitomizes our commitment 

to quality and is dedicated to transforming the consumer paint 

experience in Jamaica. 

We are committed to providing the best quality coatings and 

excellent customer experience via superior technology and well 

trained, highly motivated human resources thereby creating an 

environment in which we continue to be the preferred business 

partner, leader in the marketplace, preferred employer, and 

outstanding corporate citizen, constantly satisfying the needs of all 

our stakeholders.

MACRO-ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

At the start of the year the Jamaican economy held much promise 

but as with most economies around the world, the COVID-19 

pandemic has had a devastating impact. The Planning Institute of 

Jamaica (PIOJ) expects the Jamaican economy to contract by 12% 

in 2020/21.

There was increased volatility in the foreign exchange market.  

Compared to its USD counterpart, the Jamaican dollar devalued 

8% in 2020, relative to a 3.8% decline in 2019.  The strongest point 

of the dollar was in January 2020 trading at J$133.11, relative to its 

lowest trading point in August 2020 where it traded at J$151.27.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The Year 2020 began positively for BPJL and remained so until mid-March 2020, when Jamaica confirmed 

its first case of the COVID-19 virus. Sales and distribution were negatively impacted by both the restrictions 

and containment measures implemented by the GOJ and the exceptional inclement weather in Q4. As we 

navigated the downturn, the management team continued to implement initiatives to maintain revenue 

streams as best as possible.

As a result, BPJL achieved net revenues of $2,371 million compared to $2,525 million for the prior year ended 

December 31, 2019, or a 6% decrease.      

With the decrease in revenue, the Company recorded net profit of $11.6 million for the year ended December 

31, 2020 compared to a net profit of $29.3 million for the comparative period ended December 31, 2019.    

Nevertheless, the company’s share price has grown exponentially over the past five (5) years, moving from a 

$1.73 at December 2014 to $18.01 at December 2019, significantly improving shareholder value.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONT’D

155.00

150.00

145.00

140.00

135.00

130.00

125.00

120.00

115.00

J
a

n
 -

 1
9

F
e

b
 -

 1
9

M
a

r 
- 

19

A
p

r 
- 

19

M
a

y
 -

 1
9

J
u

n
 -

 1
9

J
u

l 
- 

19

A
u

g
 -

 1
9

S
e

p
 -

 1
9

O
c
t 

- 
19

N
o

v
 -

 1
9

D
e

c
 -

 1
9

J
a

n
 -

 2
0

F
e

b
 -

 2
0

M
a

r 
- 

2
0

A
p

r 
- 

2
0

M
a

y
 -

 2
0

J
u

n
 -

 2
0

J
u

l 
- 

2
0

A
u

g
 -

 2
0

S
e

p
 -

 2
0

O
c
t 

- 
2

0

N
o

v
 -

 2
0

D
e

c
 -

 2
0

Exchange rates J$1=US$

350

250

150

50

-50

2014 - 15 2015 - 16 2016 - 17 9 mths to Dec

2017

2018 2019 2020

Net Profits and Earnings per Share (J$ Millions)

Profit before taxation  Net Profit

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 202033



RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES USED (COST OF SALES)

Cost of Sales decreased $48.240 million compared to prior year or by 4%, due primarily to reduction in 

absolute volumes but compounded by depreciation in the J$ to its US$ counterpart (as 95% of material inputs 

are imported).   To mitigate against the impact on cost of sales the company strategically focused on inventory 

and foreign currency management. 

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses for the year 2020 totaled $1,161 million compared to $1,231 million for the comparative 

year ended 2019. The 6% decrease in operating expenses was due to Management’s continued focus on 

improving efficiencies, cost containment and strategic alignment of operations with our long-term objectives.   

In navigating the period protecting, the health of employees and maintaining jobs was a priority and was 

achieved by the Company.

TAXES

Taxation expense for the current year was $0.14 million as compared to $12.09 million for the period ended 

December 31, 2019. Our effective income tax rate decreased to 1.3% from 29.2% due to a decrease in non-

deductible expenses.

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
9 mths to  

31/12/17
2018 2019 2020

PROFIT BEFORE 
TAXATION

79,163 141,888 365,688 208,239 212,160 41,397 11,793

NET PROFIT 67,037 122,137 315,555 174,129 173,550 29,302 11,645

EARNINGS PER
STOCK UNIT

$0.31 $0.57 $1.47 $0.81 $0.81 $0.14 $0.05

1,400

1,000

1,200

600

800

200

400

-
Material Costs Manufacturing Staff Costs Other

Operating expenses (J$ thousands)

2020  2019
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BERGER’S FINANCIAL CONDITION

TOTAL ASSETS

Total assets decreased by $495.423 million or 21% moving from $2,321.224 million for the year ended 

December 31, 2019 to $1,825.801 million as at December 31, 2020 primarily due to decreases in inventories 

(J$192.986) and cash and bank balances (J$373.984).

TOTAL LIABILITIES

The Company’s liabilities at December 31, 2020 stood at $676.081 million, a decrease of $536.314 million or 

44% below December 31, 2019 due to a deliberate strategy of settling foreign obligations to mitigate against 

the impact of devaluation of the JMD dollar.

The Current and Acid test ratios stood strong at 2.67 and 1.75 respectively at December 31, 2020. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONT’D
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LIQUIDITY

The company remains debt free with a healthy cash and bank balance of $210.804 million at December 

31, 2020. With the focus on working capital management and reducing its USD obligations net cash used 

in operating activities totaled $307.762 million. There was a net decrease in cash and cash equivalents of 

$407.818 million compared to a net increase of $221.253 million at December 31, 2019.
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ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH & 
SAFETY PROGRAMME (EHS)

The Company is committed to maintaining a safe 

and healthy environment for our employees, 

customers and other stakeholders and protecting 

the environment of the communities in which we 

do business. Our EHS programme continues to be 

deployed across our operations.

RISK MANAGEMENT 
FRAMEWORK

The Company’s principal business activities – 

manufacture and sale of paints and paint related 

products, are by their nature, highly competitive and 

subject to various risks, including foreign exchange, 

credit, interest rate and liquidity risks.

The primary goal of the Company’s risk 

management is to ensure that the outcomes of risk-

taking activities are predictable and consistent with 

group policies and objectives and that there is an 

appropriate balance between risk and reward in 

order to maximise shareholder returns.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 

the establishment and oversight of the Company’s 

risk management framework.  To assist in its function, 

the Board has established an Audit Committee.

OVERVIEW OF RISKS

Credit Risk

Credit risk is defined as the potential for loss to 

the Company arising from the failure of a customer 

to honour his or her contractual obligations to 

the Company. In managing the risk, the Company 

has established a credit quality review process, 

involving regular analysis of the ability of customers 

and potential customers to meet payment 

obligations. The Company’s primary objective is 

to be methodical in its assessment, so that it can 

better understand, select and manage its exposure.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the value of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 

foreign exchange rates. Management consistently 

reviews the Company’s exposure in this regard, by 

constant monitoring of factors influencing currency 

movements, including daily analysis of its demand 

for foreign currency to meet supplier payments 

and positioning our foreign currency bank account 

holdings accordingly.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will 

encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 

commitments associated with financial instruments.  

Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell 

a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair 

value.  Prudent liquidity risk management implies, 

maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents 

SHAREHOLDER METRICS

Dec-20 Dec-19 Dec-18 Dec-17 Mar-17 Mar-16

SHARE PRICE ($) 14.20 18.01 23.20 16.55 12.40 3.88 

EARNINGS PER SHARE ($) 0.05 0.14 0.81 0.81 1.47 0.57 

BOOK VALUE ($) 5.36 5.17 5.32 4.93 4.56 3.12 

FINAL DIVIDEND  ($) - - 0.307 0.285 0.30 0.20

SPECIAL DIVIDEND ($) - - - - 0.20 -

DIVIDEND YIELD - - 1.3% 2% 4% 5%
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and the availability of funds through an adequate amount of committed facilities. Due to the nature of the 

underlying business, Management of the Company maintains an adequate amount of its financial assets in 

liquid form to meet contractual obligations and other recurring payments.

STRATEGIC DIRECTION AND OUTLOOK

The Jamaican economy is performing well in respect of a number of macro indicators and we look forward to 

continued positive and focused fiscal management.  

We expect that domestic sales will continue to grow as our strategies to enter new channels and seek out 

new opportunities in existing channels are realized.   

OUTLOOK

The current environment remains uncertain but local and global conditions are projected to improve on the 

backdrop of the vaccines now being administered worldwide.

   

BPJL, will in 2021, continue to leverage its strength as the decorative market leader and its strong distribution 

network, and is excited to embark on a major transformation of its look and feel through the launch of our 

Boldly Berger campaign.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS CONT’D
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DISCLOSURE OF
SHAREHOLDINGS

TOP TEN (10) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDERS SHAREHOLDING % OF ISSUED CAPITAL

ANSA COATINGS INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 116,023,364 54.13

SAGICOR POOLED EQUITY FUND 22,284,944 10.40

IDEAL GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED 10,988,500 5.13

IDEAL PORTFOLIO SERVICES COMPANY LIMITED 5,039,341 2.35

IDEAL BETTING COMPANY LIMITED 4,624,152 2.16

IDEAL GLOBAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED 4,020,000 1.88

GUARDIAN LIFE LTD - GUARDIAN EQUITY FUND 2,750,000 1.28

FIRST JAM./H.E.A.R.T/NTA PENSION SCHEME 2,433,500 1.14

GUARDIAN LIFE LIMITED/PENSION FUND 1,899,999 0.89

KARL P WRIGHT 1,856,391 0.87

TOTAL 171,920,191 80.22

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS
AND THEIR CONNECTED PARTIES

DIRECTORS SHAREHOLDING CONNECTED PARTY(S) SHAREHOLDING

ADAM N. SABGA  (CHAIRMAN) NIL

MICHAEL FENNELL NIL
KATHLEEN PEGGY  
FENNELL

NIL

ANDY MAHADEO NIL
DENISE GAYAH-
MAHADEO

NIL

CRAIG LA CROIX NIL LISA LA CROIX NIL

MILTON SAMUDA NIL
MILTON SAMUDA/ 
ELIZABETH SAMUDA

NIL

JACQUELINE SHARP NIL
JACQUELINE SHARP/ 
JASON SHARP

NIL

RAY A. SUMAIRSINGH NIL
CHARMAINE 
SUMAIRSINGH

NIL

TOTAL 0 0
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT
AND THEIR CONNECTED PARTIES

DIRECTORS SHAREHOLDING CONNECTED PARTY(S) SHAREHOLDING

NEWTON ABRAHAMS NIL
SHARMAINE 

ABRAHAMS
NIL

SHASHI MAHASE NIL
RENEE BOUCARD 
MAHASE

NIL

HURON GORDON NIL NADINE GORDON NIL

PETA GAYE LEVENE-THOMAS NIL DAMALI THOMAS NIL

GLADYS MILLER NIL WENDELL MILLER NIL

ROBERT POLACK NIL MICHELE POLACK NIL

JACQUELINE WARREN-WILSON 3,799

TOTAL 3,799 0
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BOARD
ATTENDANCE

BOARD AUDIT

Members
No of

Meetings
Attendance

No of

Meetings
Attendance

Adam N. Sabga* 4 4 3 N/A

Ray A. Sumairsingh* 4 3 3 1

Andy Mahadeo 4 2 3 1

Michael Fennell 4 4 3 3

Jacqueline Sharp  4 4 3 3

Craig La Croix 4 4 3 N/A

Milton Samuda 4 4 3 3

Key

* Is not a member of the Audit Committee but attends upon invitation of the committee  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ’S REPORT

To the members of Berger Paints J ama ica Lim i t ed

Repor t on the Audit of the F inancia l Sta t ements

Opinion

We have audi ted the financia l statements of Berger Pa ints Jama ica Limited (the “company”),

which comprise the statement of financia l posi tion as at December 31 , 2020 , the statements
of income , comprehensive income , changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended,

and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory informat ion.

In our opinion, the accompanying financia l statements give a true and fa ir view of the
financia l posit ion of the company as at December 31 , 2020 and of its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance wi th Interna tiona l F inancial Report ing
Standards (IFRS) and the Jama ican Companies Ac t .

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audi t in accordance wi th Internat iona l Standards on Audit ing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilit ies under those standards are further described in the Audi tor’s Responsibili ties
for the Audit of the F inancia l Statements section of our report . We are independent of the
company in accordance with the Internat iona l Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’

(IESBA) Interna tiona l Code of Ethics for Professiona l Accountants (including Internat iona l

Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical

responsibilit ies in accordance with the IESBA Code . We be l ieve that the audit evidence we
have obta ined is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key A udit Mat ters

Key audit matters are those matters that , in our professiona l judgment , were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole , and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter be low, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context .

We have fulfill ed the responsibilit ies described in the Audi tor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audi t of
the F inancia l Statements sect ion of our report , including in re lat ion to these matters.

Accordingly , our audi t included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financia l statements. The results of
our audi t procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters be low,

provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompany ing financia l statements.

Ernst & Young Chartered Accountants
8 Olivier Road, Kingston 8
Jamaica W.I.

Tel:   876 925 2501
Fax:  876 755 0413
http://www.ey.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ’S REPORT (Cont inued)

To the members of Berger Paints J ama ica Lim i t ed (Cont inued)

Repor t on the Audit of the F inancia l Sta t ements (Cont inued)

Key Audit Ma t ters, (Cont inued)

Key audi t ma t t er How our audi t addressed the key audi t ma t t er

Account ing for post employment benef i t plans

The company's post-retirement benefit
provisions re la te to a defined benefit pension
scheme amounting to an asset of $175 .09
million and a ret iree medica l post-ret irement
benefit scheme amount ing to a liability of
$138 .27 million.

These prov isions require a significant leve l of
judgement and technical expert ise in their
determinat ion. The key assumpt ions used
include the discount rate , inflat ion rate ,

morta lity and future sa lary increases which
involve judgement . Changes to the
assumpt ions could have a significant impact
to the post employment benefits recognized.

Management uses external actuaries to
assist in determining these key assumptions
and in va luing the assets and liabilit ies within
the schemes.

As part of our audit , we have assessed whether
the key actuar ia l assumpt ions adopted by
management are reasonable and consistent ly
applied. The discount and inflat ion rates were
agreed to those issued by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of J ama ica . In addit ion,

we tested the va luat ion of re levant scheme
assets. We also performed substantive audi t
procedures on the underly ing part icipants’ data
that was provided to the actuary .

We placed re liance on the actuary ’s report and
therefore assessed the actuary ’s qua lificat ions
(i.e . professiona l cert ificat ion, membership in
an appropriate professiona l body), experience
and reputat ion in the field. We a lso assessed the
actuary ’s objectivi ty and eva luated the work
performed (including reviewing the assumpt ions
and inputs used in the report) in accordance
wi th ISA 620 Using the Work of an Expert .

We a lso assessed the adequacy of d isclosures in

the financia l statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ’S REPORT (Cont inued)

To the members of Berger Paints J ama ica Lim i t ed (Cont inued)

Repor t on the Audit of the F inancia l Sta t ements (Cont inued)

Key Audit Ma t ters, (Cont inued)

Key audi t ma t t er How our audi t addressed the key audi t ma t t er

A llowance for expected credi t losses

As described in Note 4 Crit ica l Account ing

Judgements and Key Sources of Est imation

Uncerta inty under section Allowance for expected

credit losses (ECL), the company applies a

simplified approach in calculat ing ECLs amount ing

to $56 .14 million. Therefore , the company does

not track changes in credit risk, but instead

recognises a loss a llowance based on lifet ime

ECLs at each reporting date . Based on IFRS 9 –

“F inancia l Instruments” , the company has

established a provision matrix that is based on its

historica l credit loss exper ience , adjusted for

forward-looking factors specific to the debtors

and the economic environment .

The process of deve loping an expectat ion of

credit losses requires management to use

judgement which could inherent ly be subject ive .

In auditing the allowance for expected credit

losses, we performed the following:

- We eva luated the techniques and

methodologies used by the company to

est imate the ECLs and assessed the ir

compliance with the requirements of IFRS 9 .

- We assessed the reasonableness of the

methodologies and assumptions applied , by

va lidat ing the completeness of the inputs

used to derive the loss rates used in

determining the ECLs for trade receivables.

- We a lso assessed the adequacy of

disclosures in the financia l statements.

Other informat ion included in the A nnua l Report

Other informat ion consists of the informat ion included in the company ’s annua l report other
than the financia l statements and our audi tor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for
the other informat ion. The company ’s annua l report is expected to be made ava ilable to us after
the date of this auditor’s report .

Our opinion on the financia l statements does not cover the other information and we will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ’S REPORT (Cont inued)

To the members of Berger Paints J ama ica Lim i t ed (Cont inued)

Repor t on the Audit of the F inancia l Sta t ements (Cont inued)

Other informat ion included in the A nnua l Report (Cont inued)

In connect ion wi th our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other

informat ion identified above when it becomes ava ilable and, in doing so, consider whether the

other informat ion is materially inconsistent wi th the financial statements, or our knowledge

obta ined in the audit , or otherwise appears to be materia lly misstated.

Respons ibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the F inancia l S ta tements

Management is responsible for the prepara tion of financia l statements that give a true and fair

view in accordance with IFRS and the Jama ican Companies Act , and for such interna l control as

management determines is necessary to enable the prepara tion of financia l statements that are

free from materia l misstatement , whether due to fraud or error .

In preparing the financia l statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s

abili ty to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable , matters re lated to going concern

and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management e ither intends to liquidate

the company or to cease operat ions, or has no rea list ic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the company ’s financia l report ing process.

Aud itor’s Respons ibilit ies for the Audit of the F inancia l Sta tements

Our object ives are to obta in reasonable assurance about whether the financia l statements as a

whole are free from material misstatement , whether due to fraud or error , and to issue an

audi tor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high leve l of assurance , but

is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance wi th ISAs will a lways detect a material

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered

mater ia l if , individua lly or in the aggregate , they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financia l statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ’S REPORT (Cont inued)

To the members of Berger Paints J ama ica Lim i t ed (Cont inued)

Repor t on the Audit of the F inancia l Sta t ements (Cont inued)

Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit of the F inancia l Sta tements (Cont inued)

As part of an audi t in accordance wi th ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and mainta in

professiona l skepticism throughout the audit . We a lso:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia l statements,

whether due to fraud or error , design and perform audit procedures responsive to those

risks, and obta in audi t evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion. The risk of not detecting a materia l misstatement result ing from fraud is

higher than for one resulting from error , as fraud may involve collusion, forgery ,

intent iona l omissions, misrepresentat ions, or the override of interna l control .

• Obta in an understanding of internal control re levant to the audi t in order to design audi t

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of

expressing an opinion on the effect iveness of the company ’s internal control.

• Eva luate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of

account ing est imates and re lated disclosures made by management .

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of

account ing and, based on the audit evidence obta ined, whether a materia l uncerta inty

exists re lated to events or condi t ions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s

abili ty to cont inue as a going concern. If we conclude that a materia l uncerta inty exists,

we are required to draw at tention in our audi tor’s report to the re lated disclosures in the

financia l statements or , if such disclosures are inadequate , to modify our opinion. Our

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obta ined up to the date of our auditor’s

report . However , future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue

as a going concern .

• Eva luate the overa ll presentation, structure and content of the financia l statements,

including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying

transact ions and events in a manner that presents a true and fa ir view.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding , among other matters, the planned

scope and t iming of the audit and significant audi t findings, including any significant

deficiencies in interna l control that we identify during our audit .

We a lso provide the Board of Directors wi th a statement that we have complied wi th re levant

ethica l requirements regarding independence , and to communicate w ith them a ll re lat ionships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence , and where

applicable , related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR ’S REPORT (Cont inued)

To the members of Berger Paints J ama ica Lim i t ed (Cont inued)

Repor t on the Audit of the F inancia l Sta t ements (Cont inued)

Auditor’s Responsibilit ies for the Audit of the F inancia l Sta tements (Cont inued)

From the matters communicated wi th the Board of Directors, we determine those matters

that were of most significance in the audi t of the financia l statements of the current period

and are therefore the key audi t matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report

unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extreme ly

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outwe igh the

public interest benefits of  such communica tion.

Repor t on addi t iona l requirements of the J ama ican Companies Act

We have obta ined all the informat ion and explanat ions which, to the best of our knowledge

and be lief , were necessary for the purposes of our audi t . In our opinion, proper account ing

records have been ma inta ined, so far as appears from our examinat ion of those records, and

the financia l statements, which are in agreement therewith, give the informat ion required by

the Jama ican Companies Act , in the manner required.

The engagement partner on the audi t resulting in this independent audi tor’s report is Kayann

Sudlow .

Ernst & Young

K ingston, Jamaica

March 1 , 2021
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2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 286,813 251,168

Post employment benefits 6 175,095 149,523

Right-of-use assets 7 63,866 29,804

Deferred tax assets 8 7,575 8,562

Total non-current assets 533,349 439,057

Current assets
Inventories 9 445,714 638,700

Due from fellow subsidiaries 10 22,222 42,923

Trade and other receivables 11 575,007 568,432

Income tax recoverable 38,705 47,414

Cash and bank balances 12 210,804 584,698

Total current assets 1,292,452 1,882,167

Total assets 1,825,801 2,321,224

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 13 141,793 141,793

Revaluation reserves 14 45,745 45,595

Revenue reserve 962,182 921,441

Total shareholders’ equity 1,149,720 1,108,829

Non-current liabilities
Post employment benefits 6 138,271 146,229

Lease liabilities 7 53,771 21,536

Total non-current liabilities 192,042 167,765

Current liabilities
Due to immediate parent company 10 147,754 46,728

Due to fellow subsidiaries 10 102,318 654,800

Dividends payable 13,775 13,809

Provisions 15 11,692 17,460

Lease liabilities 7 11,065 8,705

Trade and other payables 16 197,435 303,128

Total current liabilities 484,039 1,044,630

Total equity and liabilities 1,825,801 2,321,224

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 1,

2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

.............................................. …..……………………………..

Adam Sabga Michael Fennell

Chairman Director

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2020
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2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

Revenue from contracts with customers 18 2,371,281 2,525,347

Raw materials and consumable used (1,091,421) (1,366,689)
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in

progress (net) (127,036) 99,992
Manufacturing expenses (55,747) (108,298)
Depreciation 5,7 (65,711) (48,943)
Employee benefits expense 20 (511,614) (558,383)
Other operating expenses (527,993) (515,604)
Other income 20,034 13,975

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 19 11,793 41,397

Taxation 21 (148) (12,095)

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11,645 29,302

Earnings per stock unit 22 $0.05 $0.14

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

STATEMENT OF INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2020
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2020 2019

Notes $’000 $’000

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11,645 29,302

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in

subsequent periods:

Deferred tax adjustment in respect of revaluation of

   property, plant and equipment 14 150 150

Remeasurement of employment benefit plans 6 38,794 6,388

Deferred tax 8 (9,698) (1,597)

29,096 4,791

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 29,246 4,941

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,

NET OF TAX 40,891 34,243

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year Ended December 31, 2020
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2020 2019
Notes $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net profit for the year 11,645 29,302

Adjustments for:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 5 52,961 39,582

Depreciation on right of use assets 7 12,750 9,361

Interest expense on lease liabilities 7 3,728 1,083

Unrealised foreign exchange gains (net) (33,924) (9,650)

Post retirement benefit charge 6(e) 19,462 19,052

Income tax expense 21 148 12,095

Provision charge 15 3,475 19,765

Expected credit loss recognised on trade receivables 11 5,866 30,045

Expected credit loss recognised on other receivables 11 - 799

Reversal of expected credit loss on trade receivables 11 (30,880) (32,465)

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment (801) (548)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital: 44,430 118,421

Decrease in trade and other receivables 18,439 69,786

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 192,986 (166,704)

(Decrease)/increase in due to/from fellow subsidiaries (net) (531,781) 352,768

Provisions utilised 15 (9,243) (18,135)

(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (105,693) 28,237

Increase/(Decrease) in due to immediate parent company 101,026 (28,466)

Post employment benefits contributions 6(e) (14,198) (12,977)

Cash generated from operations (304,034) 342,930

Interest paid (3,728) (1,083)

Income tax paid - (1,285)

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (307,762) 340,562

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 5 (88,606) (47,050)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 801 548

Net cash used in investing activities (87,805) (46,502)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (34) (63,883)

Lease liabilities payments 7 (12,217) (8,924)

Net cash used in financing activities (12,251) (72,807)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (407,818) 221,253

OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 584,698 353,795

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 33,924 9,650

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 12 210,804 584,698

Supplemental non-cash activities disclosure:

Right of use assets acquired under finance leases 7 46,812 25,868

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31, 2020
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YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

1. IDENTIFICATION

The main activity of the company, which is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica, is the manufacture
and distribution of industrial and decorative paints and paint-related processed materials.

The company, which is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange, is a 54.12% subsidiary of Ansa
Coatings International Limited. The ultimate holding company is Ansa McAL Limited, which is
incorporated in Trinidad. The registered office of the company is 256 Spanish Town Road, Kingston
11.

These financial statements are expressed in Jamaican dollars.

The Board of Directors has the power to amend these financial statements after issue, if required.

2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

2.1 Standards and interpretations affecting amounts reported and or disclosed in the
current period (and/or prior period)

There were no standards and interpretations that were applied in the year that affected the

presentation and disclosures in these financial statements.

2.2 Standards and interpretations and amendments to existing standards adopted with no
effect on the financial statements

The following additional new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in

these financial statements. Their adoption has not had any impact on the amounts reported in

these financial statements but may impact the accounting for future transactions or

arrangements.

Effective for annual
periods

beginning on or after
Amendments to Standards
IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material – Amendments to

IAS 1 and IAS 8
January 1, 2020

IFRS 3 Definition of a Business – Amendments
to IFRS 3

January 1, 2020

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and
IFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform -
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and
IFRS 7

January 1, 2020

The Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

January 1, 2020
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2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

2.3 Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet
effective and have not yet been early adopted by the company

Effective for annual
periods

beginning on or after
New and Revised Standards
IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1
January 1, 2023

IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
– Amendments to IFRS 3

January 1, 2022

IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS
7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform –
Phase 2 – Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

January 1, 2021

IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions –
Amendment to IFRS 16

    June 1, 2020

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts January 1, 2023

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use–
Amendments to IAS 16

January 1, 2022

IAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Costs of Fulfilling a
Contract – Amendments to IAS 37

January 1, 2022

IFRS 9 and IAS 41 Amendments arising from 2018-2020
Annual Improvements to IFRS

January 1, 2022

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

Effective date
deferred
indefinitely

New and Revised Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet effective that are relevant
The Board of Directors and management have assessed the impact of all the new and
revised Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet effective and have concluded that the
following is relevant to the operations of the company and are likely to impact amounts
reported in the company’s financial statements:
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2 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet
effective and have not yet been early adopted by the company (continued)

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify

the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

 What is meant by a right to defer settlement

 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral

right

 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument

would the terms of a liability not impact its classification

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2023 and must be applied retrospectively. The directors and management have not yet
assessed the impact of the application of this amendment on the company’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended

Use
In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended
Use, which prohibits entities deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the
costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. The amendment is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and must be applied retrospectively
to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of
the earliest period presented when the entity first applies the amendment. The directors and
management have not yet assessed the impact of the application of this amendment on the
company’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS
16 Leases The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on
lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a
Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes
this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related
rent concession the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change
were not a lease modification. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after June 1, 2020. Earlier application is permitted. The directors and management
have not yet assessed the impact of the application of this amendment on the company’s
financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Statement of compliance

The company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance and comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), and the relevant requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act.

3.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis. Historical cost is
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements', the
company has performed a going concern assessment as of the reporting date. While the
COVID-19 pandemic has heightened the inherent uncertainty in the going concern assessment,
the company has concluded that there are no material uncertainties that may cast significant
doubt on its ability to continue to operate as a going concern. The financial statements have
therefore been prepared on the going concern basis.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

3.3 Current versus non-current classification

The company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on
current/non-current classification.

An asset is current when it is:

 Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle

 Held primarily for the purpose of trading

 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

 Cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability
for at least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

 It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period

The company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.4  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the company.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for
which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is unobservable

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the company has determined classes of assets and
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the
level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.5 Transactions with jointly controlled entities

Common control business combinations are scoped out of IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’.
Where such transactions arise, management’s policy is to apply either the requirements of
IFRS 3 or the “pooling of interests” method (“POI method”), the latter being an approach
outside of the IFRS. The determination of which method is applied depends on:

a) Whether the common control business combination is deemed to have substance to the
company. Substance exists where:

There is a business purpose to the transaction;

Outside parties, such as non-controlling interests are involved;

The transaction was conducted at fair value; and

The acquired company had business activities prior to the acquisition.

If the transaction is deemed to have no substance, then only the POI method can be
applied.

b) The size and significance of the acquisition to the company.

c) The company’s reporting requirements.

The key differences between the POI method and the acquisition method under IFRS 3 are:

The POI method does not permit fair valuation of assets or liabilities acquired. Instead
assets and liabilities are recognised at their carrying values.

No new goodwill is generated under the POI method. Instead, any difference between the
consideration paid and the carrying value of net assets acquired is recognised in equity.

The carrying values recognised are typically those within the consolidated financial statements
of the ultimate parent company, ANSA McAL Limited, however there are situations where the
carrying values recognised will be those within the stand-alone financial statements of the
acquired entity. In determining which carrying values should be used, management considers:

 The timing of the transaction in comparison to when the acquired company was established
within the company;

 The identity and nature of the users of the company’s financial statements; and

 Whether consistent accounting policies are used by the acquired company.

The company has a policy of combining the results of the acquired company from the
acquisition date and not restating periods prior to the date of the combination. Further, equity
balances are retained to allow for recycling of profits and equity that can occur as a result of
future events.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, are stated in the statement of financial position at historical or
deemed cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other than land and properties
under construction) less their residual values, over the estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for
purposes not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Cost
includes professional fees and for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the company’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.

Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the assets.  Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

3.7  Leases

The company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is,
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessor
Leases in which the company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of
income due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in
the period in which they are earned.

Company as a lessee
The company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short term leases and leases of low value assets. The company recognizes lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying
assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.7  Leases (continued)

Company as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets
The company recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the
date the underlying assets is available for use). The right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.  The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the
initial lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made on or
before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.  Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful
lives of the assets, as follows:

 Land and building 2 to 5 yrs.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the company at the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies at 3.8
“Impairment of non-financial assets”.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the company recognizes lease liabilities measured at
the present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term.  The lease payments
include fixed payments less any lease incentive receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees.  The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the company and payments of penalties for terminating
the lease, if the lease term reflects the company exercising the option to terminate. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event of condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the company uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.  After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased
to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.  In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a
change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short term leases and leases of low-value assets
The company applies the short term lease recognition exemption to its short term leases (that
is, those leases that have a lease term of 2 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition
exemption to leases that are considered low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-
financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest company of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than the
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

3.9 Employee benefits

3.9.1 Pension obligations
The company operates a defined benefit pension plan. The plan is funded by
contributions from employees and employer. The employees contribute at the rate of
5% of pensionable salaries. The employees may make additional unmatched voluntary
contributions up to the maximum permissible by the Income Tax Act. The employer
contributes such funds as are necessary to meet the balance of the liabilities as
determined by actuarial valuations subject to a maximum rate so that the total
contributions (employee and employer) sum to 20% of pensionable salaries. The
company’s rate of contribution of 5.5% is determined by the Board of Directors upon
recommendation of external actuaries.

The cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method
with external actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period.

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
ceiling and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised
immediately in the statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to
retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they
occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.9 Employee benefits (continued)

3.9.1 Pension obligations (continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

 The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and

 The date that the company recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability
or asset. The company recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit
obligation under employee benefit costs in the statement of income:

 Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and
losses on curtailments and non-routine settlements

 Net interest expense or income

3.9.2 Termination obligations
Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated
involuntarily before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The company recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without the
possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than twelve (12) months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

3.9.3 Other post-retirement obligations
The company provides health benefits to qualifying employees upon retirement.  The
entitlement to these benefits is usually based on the employee remaining in service up
to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period.  The expected costs
of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using an accounting
methodology similar to that used for the defined benefit pension plan as disclosed
above.

3.10 Inventories

These are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of finished goods and
cost of work-in-progress comprises direct materials and labour plus an appropriate proportion of
fixed and variable overhead expenses that have been incurred in bringing inventory to its
present location and condition. Cost is arrived at based on the standard cost method (which
approximates to the weighted average cost). Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments

Financial instruments include transactions that give rise to both financial assets and financial
liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the company’s statement of financial position
when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transactions costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities (except for
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss where such costs are
recognised immediately in profit or loss), as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The fair values of financial instruments are discussed in Note 24. Listed below are the
company’s financial assets and liabilities and the specific accounting policies relating to each:

3.11.1 Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the company’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the company has applied the practical
expedient, the company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair
value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is
referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages
its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place
(regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the company
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments (continued)

3.11.1 Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four
categories:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and
losses (debt instruments)

Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the company. The company measures financial
assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective
interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables
including contract assets, due from related parties and cash and bank balances.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a company
of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the company’s
statement of financial position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or

The company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the
company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) the company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

When the company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments (continued)

3.11.1 Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition (continued)
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of
the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the company continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the company
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the company has
retained. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the company could be required to
repay.

Impairment
The company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-
month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables and contract assets, the company applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the company does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

The company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 360
days past due. However, in certain cases, the company may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the company
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the company. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2020 66

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended December 31, 2020



3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments (continued)

3.11.2 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, due to related
parties and dividend payable.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR
amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The
EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

(a) Related party

A party is related to the company if:

(i) directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, the party:
- controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, the company

(this includes parent, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);
- has an interest in the entity that gives it significant influence over the

company or;
- has joint control over the company;

(ii) the party is an associate of the company;
(iii) the party is a joint venture in which the company is a venturer;
(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the company or

its parent;
(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or

(iv);
(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly

influenced by, or for which significant voting power in such entity resides
with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
the company, or of any entity that is a related party of the company.

Intercompany transactions are recorded at pre-determined company rates and

are settled within 30 days.  Interest is not charged on these balances as they are

settled in a short period.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.11 Financial instruments (continued)

3.11.2 Financial liabilities (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

(b) Dividends payable

These are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved by
the shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the
carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised
in the statement of income.

3.12 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the statement of income
because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The company’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.12 Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in
the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

The company offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if it has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority.

Sales tax
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

- when the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from
the taxation authority, in which case, the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or part of the expense item as applicable.

- when receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included.

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from or payable to the taxation authority is included as
part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

3.13 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the company will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The company has generally
concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, because it typically controls the
goods before transferring them to the customer.

The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to
revenue from contracts with customers are provided in Note 4.

Sales of products to third parties
Revenue from the sale of products to third parties is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the goods. The
company considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated (e.g.
warranties). In determining the transaction price for sales, the company considers the effects of
variable consideration, the existence of significant financing components, noncash
consideration, and consideration payable to the customer (if any).

(i) Variable consideration
If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the company estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Certain customers are provided with a
right of return and discount incentives based on volumes subject to the maintenance of
their customer account on a current basis.  The rights of return and discounts give rise to
variable consideration.

 Rights of return
Certain contracts provide a customer with a right to return the goods within a
specified period. The company uses the expected value method to estimate the
goods that will not be returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the company will be entitled. The requirements in
IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable consideration are also applied in order
to determine the amount of variable consideration that can be included in the
transaction price. For goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, the
company recognises a refund liability. A right of return asset (and corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover products from a
customer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Sales of products to third parties (continued)

(i) Variable consideration (continued)

 Discount incentives

The company provides discount incentives under a partnership incentive plan (PIP)
whereby discounts are applied at the point of invoicing to certain customers based
on the achievement of volume targets and/or maintenance of their account on a
current basis. The company uses historical performance to estimate the discount
incentive tier the customer is likely to fall in subject to the attainment of the two
criteria previously mentioned.  The model is assessed on a quarterly basis.

(ii) Significant financing component
Where the company receives short-term advances from their customers, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15, the company does not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if they expect, at
contract inception, that the period between the transfer of the promised good or service to
the customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or
less.

Where the company receives long-term advances from customers, the transaction price
for such contracts is discounted, using the rate that would be reflected in a separate
financing transaction between the company and their customers at contract inception, to
take into consideration the significant financing component.

Contract balances

Contract assets
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to
the customer. If the company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for
the earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade receivables
A receivable represents the company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional
(i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to
accounting policies of financial assets in section 3.11 Financial instruments – initial recognition
and subsequent measurement.

Contract liabilities
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
company has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
If a customer pays consideration before the company transfers goods or services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made, or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the company
performs under the contract.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from rights of return

Right of return assets
Right of return asset represents the company’s right to recover the goods expected to be
returned by customers. The asset is measured at the former carrying amount of the inventory,
less any expected costs to recover the goods, including any potential decreases in the value of
the returned goods. The company updates the measurement of the asset recorded for any
revisions to its expected level of returns, as well as any additional decreases in the value of the
returned products.

Refund liabilities
A refund liability is the obligation to refund some or all of the consideration received (or
receivable) from the customer and is measured at the amount the company ultimately expects it
will have to return to the customer. The company updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and
the corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of each reporting period. Refer to
above accounting policy on variable consideration.

Cost to obtain a contract
The company pays sales commission to its employees for each contract that they obtain. The
company has elected to apply the optional practical expedient for costs to obtain a contract
which allows the company to immediately expense sales commissions (included under
employee benefits and part of cost of sales) because the amortisation period of the asset that
the company otherwise would have used is one year or less.

Interest revenue
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the company and the amount of the income can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

3.15 Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the company operates (its functional currency).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.15 Foreign currencies (continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the company, transactions in currencies other than the
company’s functional currency, are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions.  At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on that date.  Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined.  The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured in fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair values gain is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively). Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

All other exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

3.16 Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

3.17 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

3.18 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the company that engages in business activities from
which it may earn revenues and incur expenses; whose operating results are regularly
reviewed by the entity’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and for which discrete
financial information is available.

Based on the information presented to and reviewed by the CODM, the operations of the
company are considered as one operating segment.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

a) Revenue from contracts with customers

Determining method to estimate variable consideration and assessing the constraint
Certain contracts for the sale of goods include a right of return and discount incentives that give
rise to variable consideration. In estimating the variable consideration, the company is required to
use either the expected value method or the most likely amount method based on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The company determined that the expected value method is the appropriate method to use in
estimating the variable consideration for the sale of various goods with rights of return, given the
large number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the transaction price, the company
considers whether the amount of variable consideration is constrained. The company determined
that the estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its historical experience,
business forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the
variable consideration will be resolved within a short time frame.

b) Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options – company as a
lessee

 The company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with
any period covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or
any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be
exercised. The company has lease contracts that include extensions and termination options.
The company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to
exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, considers all relevant factors that
create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or termination.  After the
commencement date, the company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to
exercise the option to renew or to terminate.

The company included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of property. The
company typically exercises its option to renew for these leases. The periods covered by
termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are reasonably certain
not to be exercised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

a) Post employment benefits
As disclosed in Note 6, the company operates a defined benefit pension plan and provides post
retirement medical benefits. The amounts shown in the statement of financial position are an
asset of approximately $175.09 million (2019: $149.52 million) in respect of the defined benefit
pension plan and a liability of approximately $138.27 million (2019: $146.23 million) in respect of
post retirement medical liabilities. The post employment benefits are subject to estimates in
respect of periodic costs, which costs are dependent on future returns on assets, future discount
rates, rates of salary increases and the inflation rate in respect of the pension plan, and rates of
increases in medical costs for the post retirement medical plan.  External actuaries are contracted
by the company in this regard.

The estimated return on pension assets assumption is determined by considering long-term
historical returns, asset allocation and future estimates of long-term investment returns. The
company estimates the appropriate discount rate annually, which rate is used to determine the
present value of estimated cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension and post-
retirement medical benefit obligation.

To determine the appropriate discount rate in the absence of high quality corporate bonds, the
interest rates on government bonds that have maturities approximating the related pension
liabilities were considered.

The expected increase in medical costs was determined by comparing the historical relationship
of actual medical cost increases with the local rate of inflation. Current market conditions also
impact the assumptions outlined above.

Note 6(i) details some sensitivity analyses in respect of these post employment benefit plans.

b) Income taxes
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of estimates in respect of items deductible or not deductible
for tax purposes is different from the amounts that were originally recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made. A change of +/- 10% in the final tax outcome of these estimates would have the effect of
approximately $0.01 million (2019: $1.21 million) increase/decrease in the current and deferred tax
provisions.

c) Revenue from contracts with customers – Returns and incentive discounts

Estimating variable consideration for returns and incentive discounts
The company estimates variable considerations to be included in the transaction price for the sale
of goods with rights of return.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

c) Revenue from contracts with customers – Returns and incentive discounts (continued)

The company developed a model for forecasting sales returns. The model used the historical return
data of each product to derive expected return percentages. These percentages are applied to
determine the expected value of the variable consideration. Any significant changes in experience
as compared to historical return pattern will impact the expected return percentages estimated by
the company.

The company’s expected incentive discount/volume rebates are analysed on a per customer basis
for contracts that are subject to a single volume threshold among other factors. Determining
whether a customer will be likely entitled to rebate will depend on the customer’s historical discount
incentive/rebates entitlement and accumulated purchases to date among other factors.

The company applied a model for estimating expected incentive discounts for contracts with more
than one volume threshold. The model uses the historical purchasing patterns and discounts
entitlement of customers to determine the expected discount percentages and the expected value
of the variable consideration. Any significant changes in experience as compared to historical
purchasing patterns and discount entitlements of customers will impact the expected discounts
percentages estimated by the company.

The company updates its assessment of expected returns and discounts periodically and the refund
liabilities are adjusted accordingly. Estimates of expected returns and discounts are sensitive to
changes in circumstances and the company’s past experience regarding returns and discount
entitlements may not be representative of customers’ actual returns and discount entitlements in the
future. As at December 31, 2020, the amount recognised as refund liabilities for the expected
returns and discounts/volume rebates was $4.29 million (2019: $4.29 million).

d) Allowance for expected credit losses

The company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for various ageing buckets and the related loss patterns. The
provision matrix is initially based on the company’s historical observed default rates. The
company will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product,
inflation and foreign exchange rates) are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can
lead to an increased number of defaults in the construction sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The company’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the company’s trade receivables is
disclosed in Note 11.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

d) Allowance for expected credit losses (continued)

At year end trade receivables totaled $474.07 million (2019: $588.42 million) for which an
allowance for expected credit losses of $56.14 million (2019: $81.16 million) (Note 11) was
recognised.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the company assessed the need to adjust the loss rates
to incorporate forward-looking information, taking into account the expected recovery rate of
receivables and various applicable macroeconomic factors. Based on the analysis performed as
at December 31, 2020, no material overlay adjustments specifically related to the COVID-19
pandemic was considered necessary.

e) Provision for obsolescence of inventory

Estimates of provision for obsolescence of inventory are based on the most reliable evidence
available at the time the estimates are made, of the amount the inventories are expected to
realize. Estimates of provision for obsolescence also take into consideration the purpose for
which the inventory is held.

f) Leases - estimating the incremental borrowing rate

If the company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, its uses its
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities.  The IBR is the rate of interest that
the company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the company ‘would have to pay’, which
requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.

The company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as stand-alone credit
rating).
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold

Freehold

Land

Buildings &

Leasehold

Improvements

Plant and

Machinery

Furniture

Fixtures &

Equipment

Motor

Vehicles Totals

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost

January 1, 2019 27,000 105,325 345,493 106,881 39,918 624,617

Additions - 4,065 93 36,666 6,226 47,050

Disposals - - - - (1,534) (1,534)

December 31, 2019 27,000 109,390 345,586 143,547 44,610 670,133

Additions

Disposals

-

-

19,757

-

57,738

(395)

5,913

(7,438)

5,198

(4,266)

88,606

(12,099)

December 31, 2020 27,000 129,147 402,929 142,022 45,542 746,640

Accumulated depreciation

January 1, 2019 - 50,978 206,408 87,894 35,637 380,917

Depreciation charge - 3,575 23,005 9,859 3,143 39,582

Disposals - - - - (1,534) (1,534)

December 31, 2019 - 54,553 229,413 97,753 37,246 418,965

Depreciation charge

Disposals

-

-

4,608

-

28,809

(395)

16,938

(7,438)

2,606

(4,266)

52,961

(12,099)

December 31, 2020 - 59,161 257,827 107,253 35,586 459,827

Carrying amounts

December 31, 2020 27,000 69,986 145,102 34,769 9,956 286,813

December 31, 2019 27,000 54,837 116,173 45,794 7,364 251,168

a) The following useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Freehold buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery 6 years to 12½ years
Other fixed assets 4 years to 8 years

b) Freehold land and buildings were revalued in 1995 and the revaluation surplus of $49.579 million
was credited to revaluation reserves.  The revalued amounts of $27 million for land and $47.529
million for buildings have been designated the deemed cost of these assets, as permitted under
the provisions of IFRS 1.

6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The company operates a defined benefit pension plan for qualifying employees and provides post
retirement medical benefits to its pensioners.  The plans are exposed to interest rate risk, inflation
and changes in life expectancy for pensioners.  Note 6(h) details the plan’s exposure in respect of
various financial assets.
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Plan information

Regulatory framework The law requires each plan sponsor to be an ordinary annual contributor
but does not stipulate a minimum funding rate or solvency level. In
absence of guidance from the Financial Services Commission
(Regulator), the working party of actuaries and auditors agreed on a
minimum employer contributions rate of 0.25% of payroll per annum
where plan rules do not specify a minimum.

Responsibilities The trustees ensure benefits are funded, benefits are paid, and assets
are invested to maximize return subject to acceptable investment risks
while considering the liability profile. The board of trustees (including
sponsor, employee and pensioner representatives) have contracted a
pension services provider to administer the plan’s activities.  The plan is
registered with the Financial Services Commission.

Asset-Liability Matching Pensions are secured through the purchase of annuities. The remaining
assets are invested in segregated pooled funds.

Defined benefit pension plan
This plan is funded by contributions from the employees and the company. The company contributes
to the plan at rates determined by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of external actuaries
(currently 5.5% (2019: 5.5%) of pensionable salaries) and the employees contribute at a rate of 5% of
pensionable salaries (with the option of contributing an additional amount subject to a maximum rate
so that the total contributions (employee and employer) sum to 20% of pensionable salaries).
Pension benefits are determined on a prescribed benefits basis and are payable at a rate of 1⅔% of
the employee’s average earnings over the three years prior to retirement multiplied by the employee’s
number of years membership in the plan.

Retiree medical plan
The company bears the full cost of health care of employees after retirement.

Valuation
The most recent actuarial valuations for IFRS purposes of the two plans were carried out as at
December 31, 2020 by Apex Consulting Limited (Consulting Actuaries), Fellow of the Institute of
Actuaries. The obligations were measured using the projected unit credit method. The last actuarial
valuation to determine the adequacy of funding done as at December 31, 2018 revealed that the plan
was adequately funded at that date.
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(a) The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

Financial Assumptions

2020 2019
% %

Gross discount rate 9.00 7.50
Expected rate of salary increases 4.50 3.50
Future pension increases 2.00 1.25
Medical inflation 5.50 5.00
Inflation 5.00 4.00
Minimum funding rate 0.25 0.25

Administration fees (percentage of pay) 1.00 1.00

Demographic Assumptions

(i) Mortality

American 1994 Company Annuitant Mortality (GAM94) table with 5-year mortality
improvement.

Death rates per 1,000 are set out below:

Males Females
Age
20 – 40 0.35 – 0.66  0.22 – 0.29
30 – 40 0.66 – 0.85  0.29 – 0.48
40 – 50 0.85 – 1.58  0.48 – 0.97
50 – 60 1.58 – 4.43  0.97 – 2.29
60 - 70 4.43 – 14.53  2.29 – 8.63

(ii) Retirement - males who joined the plan before January 1, 2002 will retire at age 65 and all
other members will retire at age 60.

(iii) Terminations - no assumption was made for exit prior to retirement.

(iv) Martial statistics – 80% of members are assumed to be married at their date of retirement.
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(a) The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows
(continued):

Defined benefit pension plan amounts for the current and previous four years were as follows:

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Present value of obligation (994,440) (1,004,652) (1,069,906) (1,080,051) (871,233)

Fair value of plan assets 1,493,379 1,663,555 1,487,691 1,386,267 1,061,681

Unrecognised asset due to

ceiling (323,844) (509,380) (281,222) (143,606) (62,315)

Net asset in the statement of

  financial position 175,095 149,523 136,563 162,610 128,133

(b) Amounts included in the statement of financial position arising from the company’s obligation in
respect of these plans are as follows:

Defined Benefit

Pension Plan Retiree Medical Plan

2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Present value of obligation (994,440) (1,004,652)  (138,271) (146,229)

Fair value of plan assets 1,493,379 1,663,555 - -

Unrecognised asset due to ceiling (323,844) (509,380) - -

Net asset (liability) in the statement

of financial position 175,095 149,523  (138,271) (146,229)

(c) Amounts recognised in the statement of income in respect of the plans are as follows:

Defined Benefit

Pension Plan Retiree Medical Plan

2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current service cost 14,485 15,275 3,450 3,101

Net interest cost:

Interest cost on defined benefit

  obligation 76,000 75,000 11,007 9,392

Interest income on plan assets (85,480) (83,716) - -

Total included in employee benefits

expense 5,005 6,559 14,457 12,493
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(d) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of the plans are as follows:

Defined Benefit

Pension Plan Retiree Medical Plan

2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Remeasurements

Change in financial assumptions (75,000) (52,749) (18,754) 387

Experience adjustments 238,318 (186,984) 2,178 4,800

Change in effect of the asset

ceiling (185,536) 228,158 - -

(22,218) (11,575) (16,576) 5,187

(e) Movements in the net asset (liability) were as follows:

Defined Benefit

Pension Plan Retiree Medical Plan

2020 2019 2020 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 149,523 136,563 (146,229) (133,582)

Amount charged to income (5,005) (6,559) (14,457) (12,493)

Remeasurement recognised in

OCI 22,218 11,575 16,576 (5,187)

Contributions by employer 8,359 7,944 5,839 5,033

Closing balance 175,095 149,523 138,271 (146,229)
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(f) Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

Defined Benefit
Pension Plan Retiree Medical Plan
2020 2019 2020 2019
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening defined benefit obligation 1,004,652 1,069,906 146,229 133,582

Service cost 14,485 15,275 3,450 3,101

Interest cost 76,000 75,000 11,007 9,392

Members’ contributions 13,566 12,227 - -

Benefits paid (50,809) (41,329) (5,839) (5,033)

Remeasurement:

Changes in financial

  assumptions (75,000) (52,749) (18,754) 387

Changes in experience

  adjustments 11,546 (73,678) 2,178 4,800

Closing defined benefit obligation 994,440 1,004,652 138,271 146,229

(g) Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

Defined Benefit
Pension Plan
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Opening fair value of plan assets 1,663,555 1,487,691

Members’ contributions 13,566 12,227

Employer’s contributions 8,359 7,944

Interest income on plan assets 85,480 83,716

Benefits paid (50,809) (41,329)

Remeasurement:

Experience adjustments (226,772) 113,306

Closing fair value of plan assets 1,493,379 1,663,555

Movement in asset ceiling asset

Effect of asset ceiling at beginning (509,380) (281,222)

Remeasurement effects 185,536 (228,158)

Effect of ceiling at the end of period (323,844) (509,380)
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(h) The major categories of plan assets are as follows:

Defined Benefit Pension Plan

2020 2019
Fair Value of  Fair Value of

Plan Asset Plan Asset
$’000 $’000

Equity fund 388,278 532,337

CPI indexed fund 59,735 49,907

International equity 59,735 49,907

Fixed income fund 149,337 149,720

Mortgage and real estate fund 253,874 299,440

Foreign currency fund 194,139 182,991

Money market fund 14,933 16,635

Value of purchased annuities 373,345 382,618

Closing fair value of plan assets 1,493,379 1,663,555

Apart from purchased annuities, each asset is held in a segregated fund.

There are no plan assets in respect of the Retiree Medical Plan.

(i) Sensitivity analyses

1. Medical Inflation

1% decrease  1% increase

in Medical

inflation

in Medical

inflation

Assumption  Assumption

$’000 $’000

(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation - 2020 (16,378) 20,103

(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation - 2019 (19,424) 24,288
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(i) Sensitivity analyses (continued)

2. Discount rate

1% decrease in  1% increase in

Discount rate Discount rate

Assumption Assumption

$’000 $’000

2020
Increase (Decrease) in defined benefit obligation

  - Medical 19,204 (15,591)

Increase (Decrease) in defined benefit obligation

  - Pension 110,041 (88,884)

2019
Increase (Decrease) in defined benefit obligation

  - Medical 23,475 (18,694)

Increase (Decrease) in defined benefit obligation

  - Pension 117,684 (91,396)

3. Future pension increase

1% decrease in  1% increase in

Future Pension  Future Pension

Assumption Assumption

$’000 $’000

2020
(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation

  - Pension (66,725) 77,651

2019
(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation

  - Pension (83,664) 97,791

4. Salary assumption

1% decrease in  1% increase in

Salary Salary

Assumption Assumption

$’000 $’000

2020

(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation

  - Pension (23,809) 27,523

2019
(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation

  - Pension (23,842) 29,733
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6. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(i) Sensitivity analyses (continued)

5. Life expectancy

1 year 1 year
Decrease Increase

$’000 $’000
2020
(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation - Medical (3,953) 3,946

(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation - Pension (16,718) 16,371

2019
(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation - Medical (4,518) 4,526

(Decrease) Increase in defined benefit obligation - Pension (17,517) 17,194

(j) Other

(i) Expected employer contributions for the next year

$’000

Pension 11,565

Medical 7,341

18,906

(ii) Expected expense for the next year

Medical Pension Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Service cost 2,598 13,152 15,750

Financing cost (net) 12,348 (14,330) (1,982)

14,946 (1,178) 13,768

(iii) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation

Weighted
average

Weighted
average

duration
of liability

duration
of liability

2020 2019

Pension 12 13

Medical 14 16

(iv) Included in the holdings of plan assets is an investment in the Sagicor Pooled Pension

Investment Funds which holds 10.4% (2019: 10.4%) of the company’s issued shares.
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7. LEASES

Company as a lessee

Set out below are the carrying amount of right of use assets recognised and the movement during the
year:

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

As at January 1 29,804 13,297
Additions 46,812 25,868
Depreciation (12,750) (9,361)

As at December 31 63,866 29,804

Set out below are the carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movement during the period:

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

As at January 1 30,241 13,297
Additions 46,812 25,868
Accretion of interest 3,728 1,083
Payments (15,945) (10,007)

As at December 31 64,836 30,241

Classified as:
Current 11,065 8,705
Non-current 53,771 21,536

64,836 30,241

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Depreciation expense of right of use asset 12,750 9,361
Interest expense on lease liabilities 3,728 1,083

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 16,478 10,444

Operating lease payments relating to short term leases and leases of low value assets recognized as
expense for the year amounted to $0.28 million (2019: $0.93 million).
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7. LEASES (CONTINUED)

Company as a lessor

The company has entered into an operating lease on it freehold land with a related party. The lease
has a term of five years. Rental income recognised by the company during the year is $0.35 million
(2019: nil).

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating lease as at 31 December are as
follows:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Within one year 350 -
After one year but not more than five year 966 -

1,316 -

8. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the company’s
accounting policy. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax assets 57,439 56,308
Deferred tax liabilities (49,864) (47,746)

7,575 8,562

The movement during the period in the company’s deferred tax position was as follows:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Opening balance 8,562 5,473
Credit to income for the period (Note 21(a)) 8,561 4,536
Charge to other comprehensive income for the period (Note

21(b)) (9,548) (1,447)

Closing balance 7,575 8,562

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the company and the
movements thereon, during the current and prior periods:
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9. INVENTORIES

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Finished goods 177,279 311,947
Work-in-progress 18,452 10,820
Raw materials and supplies 183,817 240,641
Goods-in-transit 66,166 75,292

445,714 638,700

Inventories stated above are net of provision for obsolescence amounting to approximately $58.48
million (2019: $62.74 million).

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period, was $1,218.46 million (2019:
$1,266.70 million).

Movement in provision for obsolescence
2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Opening balance 62,737 38,973
Charged to income 8,439 26,698
Reversal of write down (Note 9(a)) (12,692) (2,934)

Closing balance 58,484 62,737

Previous write downs have been reversed as a result of reworks of material in the production
process.

Charges in respect of inventory obsolescence of $8.44 million (2019: $26.70 million) are recorded in
raw materials and consumable used.
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10. BALANCES/TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

Sale of goods to related parties were made at the predetermined company rates. Purchases are
made at market prices discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships
between the parties.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash.  No guarantees have been given
or received. No expense has been recognized during the year for irrecoverable debts in respect of
the amounts owed by related parties.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the period was as
follows:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 74,902 83,577
Post-employment benefits 3,758 3,652

78,660 87,229

The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the directors of the parent
company having considered the recommendation of the local Board and performance of individuals
and prevailing macro-economic factors.

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Trade receivables 474,074 588,421
Less allowance for expected credit losses (56,142) (81,156)

417,932 507,265
Other receivables and prepayments (net of an allowance for

expected credit losses of $15.53 million (2019: $15.53 million) 157,075 61,167

575,007 568,432

The average credit period on sale of goods is 30 - 60 days. The company has provided fully for all
receivables due for over 180 days (2019: 180 days) because historical experience has shown that
receivables that are past due beyond this period are generally not recoverable. Trade receivables
outstanding between 30 and 180 days (2019: 30 and 180 days) are provided for based on estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience of
the counterparty and an analysis of the counterparty’s current financial position.
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Before accepting any new customer, the company uses a credit bureau to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed annually. Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the reporting period,
$57.34 million (2019: nil) (amount within the approved credit limit) is due from one (2019: nil) of the
company’s customer (See also Note 24(d)). There were no other customers who represented more
than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables.

The company does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances, nor
does it have a legal right of offset against any amount owed by the company to the counterparty.

Movement in allowance for expected credit losses

Trade Receivables Other Receivables

2020 2019 2020 2019
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 81,156 83,576 15,531 14,732
Expected credit losses

recognised 5,866 30,045 - 799
Amounts recovered during
  the year (30,880) (32,465) - -

Closing balance 56,142 81,156 15,531 15,531

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the company considers any change in the credit
quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end of the reporting period.
The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the fact that the customer base is large and
unrelated. The directors believe that, at the end of the reporting period, there is no further credit
provision required in excess of the allowance for expected credit losses.

Ageing of impaired trade receivables
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

0-30 days 2,744 581
31-90 days 19,314 17,483
91-180 days 437 7,517
Over 181 days 33,627 55,575

56,142 81,156
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Ageing of impaired other receivables
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

≥ 12 months 15,531 15,531

12. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Cash on hand 531 501
Foreign currency bank balances (Note 12(a)) 18,783 263,136
Jamaican dollar bank balances (Note 12(b)) 191,490 321,061

210,804 584,698

(a) These include non-interest bearing accounts totalling $1.79 million (2019: $1.67 million),
representing the Jamaican dollar equivalent of Belize $26,700 (2019: $26,700) and $16.98 million
(2019: $261.47 million) representing the Jamaican dollar equivalent of US$0.118 million (2019:
US$1.99 million).

(b) The company has a credit facility (overdraft) with a commercial bank with a limit of 90 million
(2019: $90 million) at a rate of 16.25% (2019: 16.25%) per annum. The company did not utilize
the facility in the current or prior period.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and in hand, net of bank overdraft, and other highly liquid bank deposits held with financial
institutions, with an original maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition and are
held to meet cash requirements rather than for investment purposes.

13. SHARE CAPITAL

2020 2019 2020 2019
No. of

shares
No. of

shares $’000 $’000
Authorised: No par value ordinary
  shares at the beginning and

  end of the period 214,322,393 214,322,393
Issued and fully paid at the
  beginning and end of the period: 214,322,393 214,322,393

Stated capital 141,793    141,793

There were no movements in share capital during the period.

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry one vote per share and no right to fixed
income.
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14. REVALUATION RESERVES

Properties
Revaluation Reserve

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Balance at beginning of year 45,595 45,445
Adjustments to deferred tax liability in respect
 of revalued buildings (Note 21(b)) 150 150

Balance at end of year 45,745 45,595

The properties revaluation reserve arose on the revaluation of land and buildings prior to conversion
to IFRS, and is shown net of annual deferred tax charges.  Where revalued land and buildings are
sold, the portion of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset, and is effectively
realized, is transferred directly to revenue reserve.

15. PROVISIONS

   Employee Benefits

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Opening balance 17,460 15,830
Charged to income for year 3,475 19,765
Utilized during the year (9,243) (18,135)

Closing balance 11,692 17,460

The provision for employees’ benefits represents annual leave entitlements accrued.

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Trade payables 73,356 183,863
Other payables and accruals 124,079 119,265

197,435 303,128

The credit period on purchases of goods from the company’s major suppliers range from 30 - 60
days. The company has financial risk management procedures in place to ensure that all payables
are paid within the credit timeframe.

17. DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends declared for the year ended December 31, 2019.

During the prior period, a final dividend of 30.7¢ per share totaling $65.80 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018 was approved at the company’s Annual General Meeting and paid to
shareholders on the company’s register of members at the close of business May 28, 2019.
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18. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The following are entity-wide disclosures:

(a) Products

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Decorative/architectural products 2,187,383 2,325,254

Industrial products 116,637 149,696

Automotive products 67,260 50,397

2,371,281 2,525,347

(b) Geographical areas

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Domestic sales 2,307,356 2,449,400

Export sales 63,925 75,947

2,371,281 2,525,347

(c) Major customers

Of the sales for the year, 11% (2019: 13%) was attributable to the company’s largest customer.

There were no other customers who represented 10% or more of the company’s revenue.

(d) Right of return assets and liabilities

2020 2019

$’000 $’000

Right of return asset (included in other receivables) 961 961

Refund liabilities (included in other payables)

- Arising from rights of return 4,290 4,290

(e) Performance obligations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of manufactured products or of goods

purchased for resale. The terms of payment are determined by prior approval and can be cash or

credit for a period of 7 or 30 days and 60 days for export customers. Where there are returns due

to damaged or faulty products or sales errors, customers are entitled to full refunds. Such returns

usually occur within one month of delivery.
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19. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

The profit before taxation is stated after taking into account the following:
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

(i) Expenses on financial assets at amortised cost

Allowance for expected credit losses on sale of goods net of
recoveries of $30.88 million (2019: $32.46 million) (25,014) (110)

Allowance for expected credit losses on other receivables - 799

(ii) Net loss on financial assets and financial liabilities
 at amortised cost

Net foreign exchange loss 50,924 27,559

(iii) Other expenses

Directors’ emoluments
Fees 4,611 3,579
Management 18,185 22,416

Audit fees 6,240 5,872

20. EMPLOYEES BENEFITS EXPENSE

Staff costs incurred during the period were:
2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Salaries, wages and statutory contributions 446,275 486,055
Other staff benefits 65,339 71,769

511,614 557,824

21. TAXATION

Current and deferred taxes have been calculated using the tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%).

(a) Recognised in profit and loss

(i) The total charge for the period comprises:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Current tax 4,330 16,631
Prior year under provision 4,379 -
Deferred tax adjustment (Note 8) (8,561) (4,536)

148 12,095

Current and deferred taxes have been calculated using the tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%).
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21. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

(a) Recognised in profit and loss (continued)

(ii) The charge for the period is reconciled to the profit as per the income statement as follows:

2020 2019
$’000  $’000

Profit before tax 11,793 41,397

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% 2,948 10,349
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible in
   determining taxable profit 30 2,140
Non assessable income (200) (137)
Employment tax credit (1,855) (7,128)
Prior year under provision 4,379 -
Other (5,154) 6,871

Tax expense for the year 148 12,095

(b) Recognised directly in other comprehensive income in equity (Note 8)

2020 2019
$’000  $’000

Revaluation of properties (Note 14) 150 150
Remeasurement of defined benefit plans (9,698) (1,597)

(9,548) (1,447)

22. EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT

The calculation of earnings per stock unit of $0.05 (2019: $0.14) is based on the profit after taxation
of $11.65 million (2019: $29.30 million) and the number of stock units in issue during the period of
214,322,393 (2019: 214,322,393 units).

23. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

There were no capital commitments as at December 31, 2020 nor at December 31, 2019.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised,
in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in
Note 3 to the financial statements.

Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
$’000 $’000

Financial Assets (at amortised cost)
- Due from fellow subsidiaries 22,222 42,923

- Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 545,890 560,895

-   Cash and bank balances 210,804 584,698

778,916 1,188,516

Financial Liabilities (at amortised cost)
- Due to immediate parent company 147,754 46,728

- Due to fellow subsidiaries 102,318 595,159

- Dividends payable 13,775 13,809

- Trade and other payables (excluding accruals) 102,944 203,162

- Lease liabilities 64,836 30,241

431,627 889,099

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2020 100

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended December 31, 2020



24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives

By its nature, the company’s activities involve the use of financial instruments.

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of its financial instruments: market risk
(including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management objectives

The company’s activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some
degree of risk or combination of risks. The company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the company’s financial
performance.

The company has documented financial risk management policies which are directed by its parent
company. These policies set out the company’s overall business strategies and its risk management
philosophy. The financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of
financial performance of the company. The Board of Directors, directed by the parent company,
provides written policies for overall financial risk management as well as policies covering specific
areas, such as market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure
that the company’s policy guidelines are complied with.

There has been no change during the year to the company’s exposure to these financial risks or the
manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

The company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments.

Exposures are measured using sensitivity analyses indicated below.

(a) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security
or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the market.  The company’s activities
expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currencies, as disclosed in Note
24(b) below, interest rates as disclosed in Note 24(c) below.

(b) Foreign exchange risk

The company undertakes certain transactions denominated in currencies other than the
Jamaican dollar resulting in exposures to exchange rate fluctuations.

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

(b) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Management of foreign exchange risk
Management consistently reviews the company’s exposure in this regard by constant monitoring
of international foreign exchange markets and factors influencing currency movements including
daily analysis of its demand for foreign currency to meet supplier payments and positioning its
foreign currency bank account holdings accordingly.

The carrying amounts of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
arising in the ordinary course of business at the reporting date are as follows:

      Liabilities Assets  Net Liabilities (Assets)

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000 J$'000

US dollars 271,329 605,446 64,381 342,792 206,948 262,654

Belize dollars - - 1,799 1,666 (1,799) (1,666)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 2% revaluation and 6% devaluation (2019: 4%
revaluation and 6% devaluation) in the Jamaican dollar against the relevant foreign
currencies.  The above sensitivity rates are used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for
the above change in foreign currency rates.

If the Jamaican dollar strengthens by 2% or weakens by 6% (2019: strengthens by 4% or

weakens by 6%) against the relevant foreign currency, profit will (decrease) increase by:

2020 2019
  Revaluation   Devaluation    Revaluation   Devaluation

% J$’000 % J$’000  % J$’000 % J$’000

US dollars +2 4,139 -6 (12,417)  +4 10,506 -6 (15,759)

Belize dollars +2 (36) -6 108  +4 (67) -6 100

4,103 12,309 10,439 (15,659)
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

(b) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity (continued)

This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on bank balances, receivables and
payables in the respective foreign currency at the end of the reporting period.

The company’s sensitivity to foreign currency has decreased during the current period mainly due
to the decreased trade receivables and bank deposits as well as decreased payables
denominated in foreign currencies.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as at the end of the reporting period as it does not reflect the exposure during the
period. US dollar denominated sales and liabilities are seasonal, fluctuating throughout the
period.

(c) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the potential that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in market interest rates as a result of cash flow or fair value interest rate risk.  Financial
instruments subject to fixed interest rates are exposed to fair value interest rate risk while those
subject to floating interest rates are exposed to cash flow risk.

The company’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed
in the liquidity risk management section at Note 24(e) below.

Management of interest rate risk
The company manages its interest rate risk by monitoring the movements in the market interest
rates closely.

Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analyses is determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. In respect of Jamaican dollar investments, a 100
basis points increase and a 100 basis points decrease (2019: a 100  basis points increase and a
100 basis point decrease) and for foreign currency denominated balances, a 100 basis points
increase and a 100 basis points decrease (2019: 100 basis points increase and a 100 basis
points decrease) is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

As at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the company had no significant exposure to
interest rate risk.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

(d) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the company.

Financial assets that potentially subject the company to concentration of credit risk consist
principally of cash, cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and amounts due from related
parties. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of approximately $778.40 million
(2019: $1,188.02 million) (excluding cash on hand) disclosed under ‘categories of financial
instruments’ above and the company holds no collateral in this regard. Generally, the company
manages its credit risk by screening its customers, establishing credit limits and the rigorous
follow-up of receivables.

 Cash and bank deposits
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are major banks with high
credit ratings. The carrying amount of cash and bank balances (excluding cash on hand) totalling
$210.2 million (2019: $584.20 million) at the reporting date represents the company’s maximum
exposure to this class of financial assets.

Trade and other receivables
The company has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The company’s exposure and the credit ratings
of its counterparties are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions
concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by
counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by management on an annual basis. Further,
trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the retail and
construction sectors and as such, the company does not have significant credit risk exposure to
any single counterparty, except in respect of one (2019: nil) retail entity whose outstanding
balance at December 31, 2020 (within the approved credit limits) amounted to approximately 11%
(2019: nil) of trade receivables (see Note 11). There were no customers with outstanding
balances in excess of 5% of the total receivables at December 31, 2020. Ongoing credit
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of trade receivables. The book value of
receivables is stated after allowance for likely losses estimated by the company’s management
based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic environment.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for various customers
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written-off if past due for more than 180 days and are not subject to
enforcement activity.
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

(d) Credit risk management (continued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the company’s trade
receivables using a provision matrix.

Trade receivables
Days past due

31 December 2020
0-30
days

31- 90
days

91- 180
days

Over 181
days Total

Current
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Expected credit loss rate 0.92% 13.63% 100.00% 100.00%
Estimated total gross
carrying amount at default 298,274 141,716 437 33,647 474,074

Allowance for expected credit loss 2,744 19,314 437 33,647 56,142

Trade receivables
Days past due

31 December 2019
0-30

days
31- 90
days

91- 180
days

Over 181
days Total

Current
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Expected credit loss rate 0.21% 8.01% 23.68% 100.00%
Estimated total gross
carrying amount at default 282,844 218,268 31,734 55,575 588,421

Allowance for expected credit loss 581 17,483 7,517 55,575 81,156

The carrying amount of financial assets in respect of trade receivables totalling $417.93 million
(2019: $507.26 million) and other receivables totalling $127.96 million (2019: $53.63 million)
excluding prepayments at year end which is net of impairment of approximately $15.53 million
(2019: $15.53 million, respectively), represents the company’s maximum exposure to this class of
financial asset.

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
The directors believe that the credit risks associated with this financial instrument are minimal.
There is no significant increase in credit risk associated with related parties and therefore the
probability of default is considered insignificant. The carrying amount of $22.22 million (2019:
$42.92 million) at the reporting date represents the company’s maximum exposure to this class of
financial assets.

BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2020105

FINANCIALS 2020
BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year Ended December 31, 2020



24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty
in raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity risk may
result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value. Prudent
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities.  Due to the nature of
the underlying business, the management of the company maintains an adequate amount of its
financial assets in liquid form to meet contractual obligations and other recurring payments.  The
company also maintains a credit overdraft facility with a commercial bank to a limit of $90.0
million (2019: $90.0 million).

Liquidity and interest risk analyses in respect of non-derivative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the company’s remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the company can be required to pay.  The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Weighted
Average On Demand
Effective or Within 1 - 5

Interest Rate 1 Year years Total
% $’000 $’000 $’000

December 2020
Non-interest bearing Nil 366,791 - 366,791
Interest bearing – lease
   liabilities 4.83 - 5.65 14,698 66,887 81,585

381,489 66,887 448,376

December 2019
Non-interest bearing Nil 858,858 - 858,858
Interest bearing – lease
   liabilities 4.83 – 5.77 10,112 23,063 33,175

868,970 23,063 892,033
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

(f) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The following methods and assumptions have been used in determining the fair values of
financial assets and financial liabilities:

 The carrying amounts included in the financial statements for cash and bank balances, trade
and other receivables and trade and other payables, due to immediate parent company and
due from or to fellow subsidiaries reflect the approximate fair values because of the short-
term maturity of these instruments.

 The carrying amount of lease liabilities (variable rate) is assumed to approximate their fair
value.

Capital risk management policies and objectives

The company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the equity balance.

The Board monitors the return on capital (net income divided by shareholder’s equity).

The company’s Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As a part of
this review, the Board of Directors considers the cost of capital and the associated risks.  Additionally,
based on recommendations of the Board of Directors, the company balances its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends.

The company’s overall strategy as directed by its parent remains unchanged from the year ended
December 31, 2019.

25. CORONAVIRUS UPDATE

The duration and extent of the COVID-19 pandemic and related financial, social and public health
impacts of the pandemic are uncertain. As such, the actual economic events and conditions in the
future may be materially different from those estimated by the company at the reporting date. No
matters have arisen since the end of the financial year which have significantly affected or may
significantly affect the operations of the company. The company will continue to closely monitor the
situation in order to plan its response, if necessary.
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Proxy Form

FOR THE 69th ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF BERGER PAINTS JAMAICA LIMITED 
TO BE HELD ON JULY 29, 2021 AT 2:PM

I/WE………………………………………………………………………………………………of………………………..……………………………...........…

………………...…………………………………………………...….. being a member/members of the above named Company 

Hereby Appoint the General Manager, the Secretary or the Marketing Manager as my/our proxy, to vote for 

me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29th day of July 2021 

and of any adjournment thereof as follows: 

Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces below how you wish your votes to be cast. 

ORDINARY RESOLUTION FOR AGAINST

Resolution 1 

THAT the report of the Directors and Audited Accounts for the year 

ended 31st December 2020, and the report of the Auditors on the 

Accounts having been considered be and are hereby adopted.

Resolution 2

THAT the Auditors Ernst & Young be and are hereby appointed Auditors 

of the Company and that the Directors be and are hereby authorized 

to fix their remuneration in respect of the of the period ending at the 

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

Resolution 3

a) THAT Mr. Ray A. Sumairsingh, a director who retires by rotation and 

being eligible, has offered himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-

elected as a Director of the Company

b) THAT Mrs. Jacqueline Sharp, a director who retires by rotation and 

being eligible, has offered herself for re-election, be and is hereby re-

elected as a Director of the Company.

  

Signed this……………………………………………… day of…………………………………………2021

………………………………………………………………….

Signature

…………………………………………………………………

Signature

Notes:

1. The shareholder must appoint one of the persons listed as its proxy for the Annual General Meeting, 

please delete the persons who have not been appointed and initial the alternation. 



2. This Form of Proxy must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 256 Spanish Town Road, 

Kingston 11, not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting 

3. If the appointer is a Corporation, this Form of Proxy must be executed under its Common Seal or under 

the hand of an officer duly authorized in writing. 

4. The Proxy Form will attract stamp duty of $100.00 which may be paid by affixing adhesive stamp(s) to be 

cancelled by the person executing the Proxy Form or stamp duty impressed by the Stamp Office. 






